Smart Breeding

Marker-Assisted Selection:

A non-invasive biotechnology alternative to genetic engineering of plant varieties

International



AUGUST 2009

Contents

Smart Breeding' Executive Summary by Greenpeace International					
Mark	cer-Assisted Selection:				
A no	n-invasive biotechnology alternative to genetic engineering of plant varieties				
Prepa	ared for Greenpeace International by Benno Vogel	7			
	Overview	8			
		0			
	Introduction	10			
	1) Marker-assisted selection: Fast-tracking plant breeding	10			
	2) Molecular breeding: MAS outcompetes genetic engineering	12			
	3) State of development and future prospects of MAS	14			
	4) Feature I: MAS for superior rice	16			
	5) Feature II: Drought tolerance – breeding to fight against the 'big dry'	20			
	6) Feature III: MAS harnesses biodiversity	21			
	7) Conventional and marker-assisted breeding for better nutrition	23			
		2 61			

25

References

For more information contact: enquiries@greenpeace.org

'Marker-Assisted Selection: A noninvasive biotechnology alternative to genetic engineering of plant varieties' Prepared for Greenpeace International by Benno Vogel (www.benno-vogel.ch)

'Smart Breeding' Executive Summary written by Jan van Aken

Edited by Steve Erwood, Natalia Truchi

Designed by Toby Cotton

JN 268

Published by

Greenpeace International Ottho Heldringstraat 5 1066 AZ Amsterdam The Netherlands Tel: +31 20 7182000 Fax: +31 20 5148151 greenpeace.org

Cover Pictures © Ulrich Baatz / Greenpeace

Executive Summary by Greenpeace International

While genetically-engineered plants have gained much public attention, another modern breeding technique called MAS (marker-assisted selection) has gone through a silent revolution in recent years. MAS is a technique that does not replace traditional breeding, but can help to make it more efficient. It does not include the transfer of isolated gene sequences such as genetic engineering, but offers tools for targeted selection of the existing plant material for further breeding.

MAS has already proven to be a valuable tool for plant breeders: it requires less investment, raises fewer safety concerns, respects species barriers, and is accepted by the public. This report highlights dozens of examples of already marketed MAS-bred varieties, demonstrating its high potential to meet challenges such as a changing climate, disease resistance or higher nutritional qualities.

In contrast, genetic engineering - even after 25 years of global efforts - has basically only delivered two single-trait types of plants: herbicide-tolerant and pest-resistant.

What is Marker-Assisted Selection?

In traditional breeding, individual plants expressing desired new traits, such as sweeter strawberries or bigger potatoes, are selected from crosses of a wide range of strawberries or potatoes. While simple traits such as sugar content or size can easily be measured, more complex traits such as disease or droughtresistance are much more difficult for the breeder to see when choosing individuals expressing those traits from among a large pool of plants: for example, it is cumbersome, if not impossible, for breeders to identify those potatoes that are more drought-resistant than others.

Marker-assisted selection (MAS), also called marker-assisted breeding (MAB), avoids this problem by using genetic markers that are linked to the desired trait. Once they are able to identify a genetic sequence that is always linked to disease resistance they can, for example, avoid testing every single offspring plant for this complicated trait – they just need to look for the marker with a rapid DNA test, and they know immediately which plants have the trait and which do not. No DNA is altered and no new gene introduced during this process – it is traditional breeding with molecular help. MAS is often used as a synonym of SMART breeding, which stands for Selection with Markers and Advanced Reproductive Technology.

MAS can be more efficient, effective and reliable than phenotypic selection. Furthermore, MAS can shorten the development time of varieties significantly, so in some cases it will be more cost-effective than selection based on phenotypes. MAS also allows the breeding of complex traits not feasible through previous conventional methods. Although certainly not the silver bullet for all problems, MAS is a promising approach to conventional plant breeding.

image Farmer Sella Mansores, 45, with com damaged by severe drought, Surallah, Cotabato, Philippines. Since the extreme drought struck farmers report that the harvest is less than one third the normal yield. Since October 2004, the country's worst drought in 50 years has affected around 700,000 people. Greenpeace links rising global temperatures and climate change to the onset of one of the worst droughts to have struck the Philippines, Thailand, and Cambodia in recent memory.



© JOSE ENRIQUE SORIANO / SILVERLENS / C

Beyond breeding techniques

Breeding techniques such as MAS are only one part of the solution to the food crisis. Key for the future of food security are farming systems that are ecological and bio-diverse, rather than continuing with chemical-intensive farming. In April 2008, a collective effort of over 400 scientists worldwide, coordinated by the World Bank and the Food and Agriculture Organisation – the International Assessment of Agricultural Science and Technology for Development (IAASTD) – took stock of the current global state of farming. Their final report, which was adopted by over 60 governments, is a sobering account of industrial farming's failures. It concludes that chemical-intensive agriculture fails to meet local communities' needs for building their livelihoods and achieving a healthy, varied diet. The report calls for a systematic redirection of agricultural research, to better address hunger, severe social inequities and environmental problems.

Rapid changes are needed in agricultural production, and new, biodiverse and low-input farming systems must be developed and employed. There is also a need for new crop varieties that are fit for change: tolerant to drought, heat or other climate challenges, adapted to bio-diverse farming systems and providing healthier products for farmers and consumers.

Ecological Farming

Ecological Farming ensures healthy farming and healthy food for today and tomorrow, by protecting soil, water and climate, promotes biodiversity, and does not contaminate the environment with chemical inputs or genetic engineering.

A new paradigm in biotechnology

Since the human genome was sequenced, many experts talk about the post-genomic era, in which isolated genetic elements play only marginal roles and the focus is on the complex regulation of genes, their interactions and the sophisticated cellular signalling systems that are yet to be understood.

Scientists using MAS techniques consider plants and their genome as a coherent system and do not interfere with regulation at the genetic level. To achieve desired qualities in plants it is not necessary to identify certain genes that directly influence the desired features. No knowledge or understanding of the underlying regulation is required. It is enough to know that certain structures in the genome can be correlated with some qualities of the plants. Coming from the era of post-genomics, MAS perfectly represents the new paradigm in biotechnology.

The techniques of MAS make use of the natural systems that were established and refined by the mechanisms of evolution. In fact – as this report shows – normal gene regulation can be much more reliable than genetic engineering: transferring a single isolated gene that confers flood tolerance was unable to deliver the same result as targeted crossing and selection within conventional breeding supported by MAS (see Chapter 3 of this report).

MAS is superior to genetic engineering

With respect to the most relevant traits for world food security, the genetic engineering of plants has not performed very well in its first 20 years. Those genetically engineered (GE) crops that are on the market are producing insecticides and/or tolerating herbicides. They hardly contribute to higher yield, they do not aim to address climate change conditions, and their value for sustainable agriculture is highly questionable: the use of GE herbicide-tolerant plants has been responsible for the development of new herbicide resistant weeds (Servive, 2007). Genetically engineered Bt plants contribute to the increase of new insect pests that have adapted to new ecological niches (Catangui, 2006).

Even in the technical parts of patent applications of companies like Monsanto and Syngenta, one can find clear indications of the technological barriers and general disadvantages of the genetic engineering of plants. By way of illustration, one can read this telling quote in Monsanto's patent application WO 2004053055:

"Nonetheless, the frequency of success of enhancing the transgenic plant is low due to a number of factors including the low predictability of the effects of a specific gene on the plant's growth, development and environmental response, (...) the lack of highly predictable control of the gene once introduced into the genome, and other undesirable effects of the transformation event and tissue culture process."

MAS outcompetes genetic engineering

Marker-assisted breeding has a much higher crop improvement potential than genetic engineering. Two examples from this report:

- Disease resistance: In rice, 28 genes conferring resistance to bacterial blight have been identified and are now amenable to molecular breeding. Whereas several rice lines have been genetically engineered with these resistance genes, none of these lines has yet been commercialised. In contrast, several MASdeveloped bacterial blight resistant rice varieties are currently available for farmers, demonstrating that MAS creates a competitive alternative to the genetic engineering approach.
- Drought tolerance: In 2007, MAS 946-1 became the first droughttolerant aerobic rice variety released in India. To develop the new variety, scientists at the University of Agricultural Sciences (UAS), Bangalore, crossed a deep-rooted upland japonica rice variety from the Philippines with a high yielding indica variety. Bred with MAS, the new variety consumes up to 60% less water than traditional varieties.

In contrast, the growing importance of new techniques in conventional breeding such as MAS is also reflected in statements by some of the most important – and conservative – research centres in plant breeding such as those of the CGIAR (Consultative Group on International Agricultural Research), like IRRI, the International Rice Research Institute in the Philippines. The CGIAR centres promote techniques such as MAS as a major tool in their work to breed new plant varieties: "Today, new techniques enable us to create gene maps, discover precise information about the roles genes play, and mark individual genes. As a result, plants with desirable characteristics can be bred much faster."

(http://www.cgiar.org/impact/agribiotech.html)

Similarly in IRRI's official 'strategic plan 2007-2015', much emphasis is given on smart breeding, while in comparison genetic engineering is not mentioned as crucial technology:

"Recent IRRI research has shown that the drought tolerance trait is strongly influenced by genes and gene networks with large effects. The project will scale up their detection, analysis, and delivery for use in marker-aided breeding."

Outlook

This report focuses solely on the technical possibilities of MAS, its strengths compared to genetic engineering, and its potential impact on plant breeding. Technically, MAS has a huge potential to contribute to ecological farming, but it is not a panacea. The future of farming lies in farming systems that are bio-diverse and accompanied by a range of policy cornerstones, to support rural livelihoods and long term, sustainable farming. MAS and other breeding techniques are but one technical contribution in this regard.

But most importantly, it is still an open question as to who will control this technology. If MAS or other plant breeding techniques are used to gain patents on a wide range of plants and plant varieties, farmers – and whole countries – would lose control over the seed and food supply, with potentially devastating consequences for food security and rural livelihoods. Hence, it is still an open question whether MAS will be able to deliver its technical potential in the real world, or whether it will rather be abused to secure seed monopolies for a few international agrochemical companies.

The benefits of ecological farming:

1) Ecological farming provides the ability of communities to feed themselves and ensures a future of healthy farming and healthy food to all people.

2) Ecological farming protects soils from erosion and degradation, increases soil fertility, conserves water and natural habitats and reduces emission of greenhouse gases.

3) Ecological farming is both a climate change mitigation and adaptation strategy. Ecological farming can provide large-scale carbon sinks and offer many other options for mitigation of climate change. In addition, farming with biodiversity is the most effective strategy to adapt agriculture to future climatic conditions.

Marker-Assisted Selection:

A non-invasive biotechnology alternative to genetic engineering of plant varieties

PREPARED FOR GREENPEACE INTERNATIONAL BY BENNO VOGEL

Overview

What is Marker Assisted Selection?

In traditional breeding, new crop traits such as sweeter strawberries or bigger potatoes are selected from crosses of a wide range or strawberries or potatoes. While simple traits such as sugar contents or size can easily be measured, more complex traits such as disease or drought resistance are much more difficult to determine for the breeder. It is time consuming for breeders to identify those potatoes that are more drought resistance than others. Smart breeding or marker assisted selection (MAS, also called marker assisted breeding -MAB) avoids this problem by using genetic markers that are linked to the desired trait(s). Once they are able to identify a genetic sequence that is always linked to disease resistance, for example, they can avoid testing every single offspring plant for this complicated trait - they just need to look for the marker with a rapid DNA test, and they know immediately whether or not which plants have the trait. No DNA is altered and no new gene introduced during this process - it is breeding with molecular help.

Unlike genetic engineering it does not involve the transformation of isolated (foreign) genetic material into the genomes of plants. Basically smart breeding works like conventional breeding. Because of the speed and accuracy of MAS, smart breeding can dramatically fast-track conventional breeding efforts.

The use of genetic markers in plant breeding is based on the assumption that the presence of particular markers in the plant genome is linked with the presence of a particular trait. The information about links between markers and traits is delivered by genomic research.

Smart breeding is the use of genetic markers in conventional breeding programs to predict the presence of the desired traits. Different from genetic engineering, it does not involve gene isolation, direct modification and asexual insertion of genetic material.

State of development and future prospects of MAS

In the last decade public and private plant scientists heavily invested in the development of MAS. Today, molecular markers are available for a wide range of traits and crop species. Examples of successful applications of MAS are: disease resistance varieties in barley, bean, pearl millet, rice, soybean, wheat and tomato, varieties with enhanced quality in maize and rice, and varieties with complex traits such as drought-tolerance in aerobic rice and yield in tomato. The more basic genomic research advances, the easier it will become to apply MAS for many different traits including traits depending on multiple gene involvement and complex gene interactions, functions and regulations.

Feature I: MAS for superior rice

Rice is the world's most important food crop and a primary source of food for more than half the world's population. As rice production has to be improved to satisfy growing demand, much efforts has been put into the development of MAS and genetically engineered rice varieties. Whereas there are no genetically engineered rice varieties commercially grown at the moment, the first MAS-developed rice varieties are already available for farmers. In China, India and Indonesia, for example, rice varieties have been released, which are resistant to bacterial blight, a widely distributed rice diseases. In the USA MAS-rice with enhanced quality was developed and in India a drought-tolerant rice variety is available. The release of salt and submergence tolerant MAS-rice is expected for 2009/2010.

image Mushroom Risotto at Kinabuhayan Cafe, Luzon, Quezon. Leading heritage restaurants joined the Greenpeace 'GMO-free rice restaurants' campaign to protect rice from the threat of genetically-modified organisms or GMOs. The 'GMO-free rice restaurants' campaign aims to gather the commitment of restaurants around the country to serve only GMO-free rice.



Feature II: Drought tolerance

Drought is one of the stresses that threaten worldwide crop productivity most severely. The polygenic nature¹ of drought resistance makes the breeding of drought tolerant varieties extremely difficult. Whereas no genetically engineered drought-tolerant crop has been commercialised to date, conventionally bred drought tolerant varieties have been released to the market. Examples are the open pollinated maize variety ZM521 and the wheat varieties Drysdale and Rees. A wheat variety based on Drysdale and improved by MAS should be ready for commercialisation in 2010. Promising opportunities for improving drought tolerance by MAS also exist in rice, maize and sorghum.

Feature III: MAS harnesses biodiversity

Despite the value of genes or alleles originating from wild species and landraces conventional breeders have been reluctant about the use of non-cultivar (i.e, from landraces) germplasm in their breeding programs due to complex, long-term and unpredictable outcomes. Marker assisted selection now enables to precisely introgress small sectors of wild species or landraces into elite varieties. Two successful examples of this approach are the yield-increased tomato variety AB2 and the maize variety Vivek QPM 9 with improved protein quality.

Feature IV: Breeding for better nutrition

Given the genetic variation in concentrations of zinc, iron, and vitamins among plant varieties, conventional and marker-assisted breeding have great potential to increase the micronutrient contents of staple crops. One successful example of conventional breeding is the release of sweet potato varieties with enhanced levels of provitamin A in African countries. In near future the first biofortified MAS-variety is believed to come to the market. Scientists recently identified genetic markers in maize, which are associated with higher levels of provitamin A in kernels. With the help of these markers provitamin A concentration in kernels can now be assessed in an easy and cost-effective way.

Polygenic means it is based on many genes, i.e. there is not one single gene that confers drought resistance (which could be theoretically transferred with genetic engineering), but several genes have to act together to convey drought resistance.

Introduction

Today, there is serious concern about sufficient future global production of food from crop plants. In addition to an increasing world population, there are several reasons for this concern. Firstly, global climate change will affect crop growth and threaten the conservation of cultivated lands. Secondly, freshwater resources are declining and the competition for this water between urban areas, the industrial sector and agriculture is increasing. Thirdly, the availability of arable land is decreasing because of soil erosion and degradation, land conversion to other uses and non-sustainable farming.

There are several vital ways to cope with these emerging problems, including management adoptions and politico-economic reforms. The International Assessment of Agricultural Science and Technology for Development (IAASTD) has recently called for a greater support of agroecological approaches, which it considers a great potential for world agriculture. One approach to improving global food production is the enhancement of the raw material - the crops themselves. For the last two decades, biotech companies - as well as some politicians and public sector scientists - have promoted genetic engineering (GE) as the best plant-breeding approach to solving the problems. However, production of the first genetically-engineered varieties is being driven by available technical possibilities and economic interests rather than by the central needs of the market. So far, genetic engineering has failed to meet the emerging problems. Today, genetic engineering is mostly limited to a handful of major crops and a small number of traits that are of interest to large-scale commercial, industrial farmers, mainly developed by a few global life science companies.

Although genetic engineering has captured much attention, many scientists believe that greater progress can be made in improving plant varieties through applications of biotechnologies that do not involve genetic engineering². Such a tool is marker-assisted selection (MAS). MAS is used to speed up and widen the scope of crop breeding around the world and has become a valuable alternative to genetic engineering, as it has great crop improvement potential without threatening irreversible harm to the environment or long-term human health effects.

While genetic engineering is in the public spotlight, the development and achievements of MAS have gone largely unnoticed. The aim of this paper is to highlight some the current outputs of MAS. The first section describes how MAS works and what advantages it offers compared to conventional breeding. The second section compares MAS to genetic engineering. Following this is a description of the state of development and future prospects of MAS. Subsequently, attention is drawn to MAS in rice breeding, including several examples of successfully developed new rice varieties. The last three sections feature MAS for developing drought tolerance, harnessing biodiversity and improving nutrition.

2 Biotechnology in plant breeding covers at least four areas of work (Dawson et al. 2009): (i) tissue culture and micropropagation, (ii) molecular marker characterisation of genetic diversity, (iii) genetic maps, marker-assissted selection and genomics, and the related disciplines of proteomics and metabolimics, and (iv) genetic engineering and the production.

1) Marker-assisted selection: Fast-tracking plant breeding

"Where breeding goals cannot be achieved using traditional approaches, there is now considerable scope for using molecular markers to develop new varieties.".

Peleman & Rouppe van der Voort 2003b

"Marker-assisted selection has held promise for impacting, perhaps revolutionising, plant breeding disciplines."

Cahill & Schmidt 2004

"One of the most powerful tools in the emerging biotechnology toolkit is marker-assisted breeding."

Naylor & Manning 2005

The performance of a given plant variety is the end result of the action of thousands of genes and their interactions with environmental conditions and cultural practices (Collins et al. 2008). Selection of the plant varieties with the desirable performance under given environmental conditions and cultural practices is the fundamental basis of plant breeding (Collard & Mackill 2008). Traditionally, plant breeders have selected plants based on their visible or measurable traits, called the phenotype. As the direct target of the selection is the trait itself and its phenotypic expression, the specific genes behind the trait are selected indirectly. Through the development of molecular markers it has now become possible to directly target genomic regions that are involved in the expression of traits of interest (Babu et al. 2004). The use of molecular markers in plant breeding is called molecular marker-assisted selection, often also simply referred to as marker-assisted selection (MAS), marker-assisted breeding or 'smart breeding'.

Molecular markers represent genetic differences between individual organisms or species. They are a sequence of nucleic acid, which makes up a segment of DNA. Generally, they do not represent the target genes themselves but are located near the DNA sequence of the desired genes and therefore act as 'signs' or 'flags' (Collard et al. 2005). Since markers and genes are close together on the same chromosome, they are disposed to stay together during the breeding process. This linkage helps breeders to find out whether an individual plant has desired genes or not. Breeders can scan new varieties for the presence of the markers and if they can find the markers, it means the desired genes itself are present.

image After finishing a half day harsh farm work, a Hani rice farmer is eating his rice from a traditional bamboo rice bowl, Yunnan Province, China.



The process of phenotypic selection used in conventional breeding programmes can be difficult, slow, costly and influenced by the environment (Francia et al. 2005, Babu et al. 2004). MAS now offers a solution to these constraints. The advantages of MAS over conventional phenotypic selection depend on several parameters, including type of crop species and kind of traits to be improved. In general, MAS can be more efficient, effective and reliable than conventional breeding and can shorten the development time of varieties significantly (Babu et al. 2004, Collard et al. 2005, Francia et al. 2005, Foolad 2007, Brennan & Martin 2007, Xu & Crouch 2008). Furthermore, in some cases MAS can be more cost-effective than conventional phenotypic selection (Dwivedi et al. 2007, William et al. 2007, Brennan & Martin 2008).

A major breakthrough brought to plant breeding by the use of molecular markers is that genotypic selection has become possible not only for qualitative (that are based on single genes) traits but also for complex traits that involve a broad range of genes. Most of the traits of agronomic importance, such as yield, abiotic stress tolerance, quality traits and some classes of disease resistance, are complex and regulated by several genes (Francia et al. 2005). It has been estimated that 98% of the important traits in domesticated crops are of quantitative nature (Utomo & Linscombe 2008). The regions within plant genomes that contain genes associated with a quantitative trait are called quantitative trait loci (QTL). The identification of QTLs based only on conventional phenotypic evaluation is not possible (Collard et al. 2005). As Young (1999) wrote, "Before the advent of DNA marker technology, the idea of rapidly uncovering the loci controlling complex, multigenic traits seemed like a dream." Now, this dream is becoming a reality and with the help of molecular marker genome regions can be flagged now allowing the selection for QTLs.

Today molecular markers can be employed to assist a wide range of components of modern plant breeding programs, including the following applications: improved access and utilisation of germplasm resources, genetic analysis of breeding populations, parental selection, marker-assisted selection, marker enhanced backcross breeding, pyramiding genes, protection of plant breeder's rights and comparative mapping (Crouch & Ortiz 2004, Collard & Mackill 2008, Hospital 2009). With respect to important MAS schemes, three main uses of molecular markers in plant breeding can be emphasised: **Marker-assisted evaluation of breeding material:** The first selection step in plant breeding is the choice of lines to mate as parents of new populations. Conventionally, the selection of such parents is based on a combination of phenotypic assessments, pedigree information, breeding records and chance. Now, the use of molecular markers enables a marker-assisted germplasm evaluation. This type of evaluation has the potential to make parental selection more efficient, to expand the gene pool of modern cultivars and to speed up the development of new varieties (Xu & Crouch 2008, Edwards & McCouch 2007).

Marker-assisted introgression: The process, where a gene or a QTL from a population A is introduced to a population B by crossing A and B and then repeatedly backcrossing to B, is called introgression (Hospital 2009). Here, molecular markers can be used to control the presence of the target gene or QTL and to accelerate the return of background genome to recipient type. Marker-assisted introgression is very effective for introgressing genes or QTLs from landraces and related wild species, because is reduces both the time needed to produce commercial cultivars and the risk of undesirable linkage drag with unwanted traits of the landrace or wild species (Dwivedi et al. 2007).

Marker-assisted pyramiding: Pyramiding is the process of combining several genes or QTLs together into a plant variety. Using phenotypic selection methods it is extremely difficult and sometimes impossible to pyramid the desired traits. A striking example is the breeding of durable disease resistance. When a variety is protected by one gene with a major effect against a disease, it is often not possible to introgress additional resistance genes to the same disease because they show the same phenotype. However, if resistance genes can be tagged with markers, the number of resistance genes in any plant can be easily determined (Collard & Mackill 2008).

Taken together, MAS can significantly reduce the time needed to develop plant varieties with desired traits and enthusiasts claim that MAS could offer to plant breeding what the jet engine has brought to air travel (Knight 2003). Furthermore, since the desired genes occur naturally in the plant and are simply selected for during the breeding process, no foreign gene introduction is involved. MAS also allows the breeding of complex traits that were not feasible by previous methods. Although not a panacea, MAS is a promising new approach to conventional plant breeding.

2) Molecular breeding: MAS outcompetes genetic engineering

"Fortunately, biotechnology has provided additional tools that do not require the use of transgenic crops to revolutionise plant breeding."

Dubcovsky 2004

In the last two decades, genomics research in plant species has generated a wealth of information about gene structure and function. This information is now accessible for crop improvement and is applied in two broad areas of molecular breeding. The first area is markerassisted breeding, the second area is genetic engineering (Naylor et al. 2004). Some still promote genetic engineering but increasingly plant breeders are waking up from this genetically-engineered dream (Zamir 2008).

Whereas genetically-engineered plants have gained much public attention, MAS has gone through a silent revolution. Today, MAS has become a realistic option to develop new varieties and many scientists assume that MAS is a valuable alternative to genetic engineering (Fernie et al. 2006, Schauer et al. 2006, Wenzel 2006, Herdt 2006, Naylor & Manning 2005, Naylor et al. 2004, Dubcovsky 2004, Peleman & van der Voort 2003a, Zamir 2001).

Marker-assisted breeding has a much higher crop improvement potential than genetic engineering, and it can do what GE does with out threatening to cause irreversible harm to environment or to human health.

This is illustrated by the breeding of disease resistance. In rice, for example, 28 genes conferring resistance to bacterial blight have been identified and are now amenable to molecular breeding. Several MASdeveloped bacterial blight resistant rice varieties are currently available for farmers showing that MAS creates a competitive alternative to the genetic engineering approach (Collinge et al. 2008; examples see section 4.1). As marker-assisted breeding of disease resistance is even more promising than genetic engineering in various situations, the EU Commission-funded project 'Bioexploit' gives high priority to MAS for the exploration of natural disease resistance in wheat and potato (Anonymous 2007). Another example of MAS being more effective than genetic engineering is the development of submergence tolerant rice varieties. The sub1a gene is known to make rice plants survive under flooded conditions. Although flooding-intolerant rice lines genetically engineered with the sub1a gene show submergence tolerance, they also show a pleiotropic phenotype including reduced plant height (Xu et al. 2006). In contrast, the incorporation of the sub1a gene into popular flooding-susceptible varieties by marker-assisted backcrossing resulted in improved varieties showing submergence tolerance without compromising on yield or other agronomic important traits (Neeraja et al. 2007; see also section 5.5).

MAS also seems to be a very promising approach against insect pests, such as the brown plant hopper on rice. There is a lot of research activity in this area, and recently three scientific papers have been published by Chinese researchers detailing advances for plant hopper resistance using MAS and detailing on new genes found in rice that give resistance to BPHⁱ.

Probably the most important advantage of MAS over genetic engineering lies in the potential of improving quantitative traits. MAS is able to select and pyramid QTLs, even without knowing the specific genes conferring the traits. In contrast, a major drawback of genetic engineering is that breeders must know which genes should be transferred to the plant genome. The identification of key genes, whose manipulation affects quantitative traits, is highly complex because of the polygenetic nature of quantitative traits. While genomics has identified many sequences that correlate with phenotypic changes, the question as to which are the best candidate genes related to quantitative traits continues to baffle genetic engineers (Singh et al. 2008, Zamir 2008, Vij & Tyagi 2007, Ghandilyan et al. 2006). Furthermore, the choice of the right promoters is critical for tailoring and fine-tuning the expression of candidate genes to improve quantitative traits (Venter 2007). However, the ability to make wise predictions about which promoters to use is still very limited (Zamir 2008). Another hurdle to the improvement of quantitative traits by genetic engineering is that the coordinated manipulation of multiple genes is difficult to achieve (Halpin 2005). Although engineering systems are available for the transfer of multiple genes into plant cells, several questions still remain open and technical issues need to be addressed before these systems can be routinely used (Dafny-Yelin & Tzfira 2007). A further handicap: the use of multiple genes is likely to make safety assessment of genetically-engineered plants more complex, as not only the safety of each gene transferred has to be assessed but also potential interactions among them.

i Su CC, Wan J, Zhai HQ, Wang CM, Sun LH, Yasui H, Yoshimura A. 2005 A new locus for resistance to brown planthopper identified in the indica rice variety DV85. Plant Breeding 124: 93-95.

Yang HY, You AQ, Yang ZF, Zhang F, He RF, Zhu LL, He G. 2004. High-resolution genetic mapping at the Bph15 locus for brown planthopper resistance in rice (Oryza sativa L.). Theoretical and Applied Genetics 110: 182-191.

Ren X, Wang X, Yuan H, Weng Q, Zhu L, He G. 2004. Mapping quantitative trait loci and expressed sequence tags related to brown planthopper resistance in rice. Plant Breeding 123: 342-348.

image Fish and Co. kitchen crew display a dish of beef tapa served with java rice during the launch of Greenpeace's 'GMO-free rice restaurants' campaign in The Philippines.



In summary, genetic engineering continues to be a restricted technology that can address a few simple traits, but remains inadequate for improving the often far more valuable complex traits.

Given the great plant-breeding power of MAS, it becomes obvious that MAS offers several advantages over genetic engineering: MAS respects species barriers, raises less safety concerns - especially about irreversible environmental harm and long-term negative health effects intrinsically associated with GE - is accepted by the public, and is not harming or endangering organic farming.

MAS respects species barriers: All genes that are incorporated into crops by MAS are present within the natural gene pool of a particular crop and reside at their natural chromosomal locations. In contrast, most genetic engineering applications involve the transfer of genetic material originating outside the natural gene pool of a particular crop and the transformation results in random genomic integration. As MAS respects species barriers, it provokes less ethical concerns regarding 'naturalness' and 'plant integrity' than genetic engineering.

MAS raises fewer safety concerns: MAS mainly involves backcrossing and introgression. As both breeding processes have a long history of safe use in conventional plant breeding, MAS-derived cultivars are generally as safe as conventionally-bred varieties. In contrast, genetic engineering is unfamiliar with most of the conventional breeding approaches and the long safety history of conventionally-bred varieties cannot be translated to geneticallyengineered varieties. Specifically, it is widely documented that the process of transferring isolated genetic material into plant genomes frequently leads to random genomic integration and multiple insertions of gene and vector sequences resulting in insertional mutagenesis, thus causing unintended effects (Latham et al. 2006).

MAS requires less investment: Genetic engineering is an expensive technology. While the cost for the development of a conventional variety is approximately USD 1 million (Goodman 2004), genetic engineering requires an investment of anywhere between USD 20 million to USD 100 million for developing a commercially released event (Goodman 2004, Powell 2007, Trommetter 2008). Although no exact figures can be found about costs of developing MAS-varieties in the literature, MAS is certainly less expensive than genetic engineering technologies (Trommetter 2008). For public breeding programs, the costs for genetic engineering are usually beyond the resources, and therefore genetic engineering approaches are not currently used in most cultivated crops (Dubcovsky 2004). Also, for private companies, costs for genetically engineering varieties can be prohibitive. For example, Seminis, a major fruit and vegetable seed company, is using marker-assisted breeding because the high investment in genetic engineering does not make sense for the small scale of fruit and vegetable costs (Powell 2007).

MAS is accepted by consumers: Although there is only one study available indicating that consumers favour MAS over genetic engineering (van den Heuvel 2008), it is generally assumed that MASdeveloped varieties will be accepted by consumers, as they are not genetically engineered (Fernie et al. 2006, Dubcovsky 2004, Peleman & Rouppe van der Voort 2003a, Zamir 2001, Pollack 2001). This is substantiated by the fact that naturalness and intrinsic value of plants are explicitly mentioned as consumer concerns in several reports (Lammerts van Bueren et al. 2003).

MAS poses no threat to organic farming: Genetic engineering is not accepted in organic farming, as it contrasts with the concepts of naturalness and integrity (Verhoog 2007, Lammerts van Bueren et al. 2007). In contrary, although discussion is still going on about the use of marker technology in organic farming (Verhoog 2005, Lammerts van Bueren 2005, Haring 2005, Backe & Østergård 2008), MAS can be permitted in an organic breeding programme, if marker screening is performed without enzymes originating from genetically-modified microorganisms and without radiation (Lammerts van Bueren et al. 2003, Lammerts van Bueren & Struik 2004, Backe & Østergård 2008).

3) State of development and future prospects of MAS

"Over the next decade, MAS technologies will become substantially cheaper and easier to apply at large scale, and knowledge from genomics research will become more readily translated from publications into breeding tools."

Xu & Crouch 2008

"Despite the much proclaimed successes of agbiotech in manipulating a few simple input traits by transgenesis, it is almost certainly the case that the more significant, and normally quite unremarked, achievement of modern hitech breeding has been in the use of marker-assisted technologies."

Murphy 2007

Given its great potential MAS has been greeted with much enthusiasm and expectation in public and private plant breeding, stimulating tremendous investments in the development of molecular marker maps and research to detect associations between phenotypes and markers (Cahill & Schmidt 2004, Ruane & Sonnino 2007, Eathington et al. 2007, Bernardo 2008, Hospital 2009, Utomo & Linscombe 2009). Molecular markers are now available for a wide range of traits and crop species.

There is no comprehensive documentation regarding the successful use of MAS for breeding new crop varieties or developing breeding material. Comprehensive figures on the number of released MASvarieties and their adoption by farmers are not available. However, from the literature it is evident that MAS plays a prominent role in plant breeding, and a range of examples of successful, practical outcomes can be found in literature and variety registrations (Xu & Crouch 2008, Dwivedi et al. 2007). In the course of the present work 28 MAS-derived varieties released by public breeders were identified (Table 1). One of the reasons for the limited number of published reports is that breeders in the public sector do not publish their MAS results. For public plant breeders the final 'product' is a new variety and not a publication. Although new varieties are registered, explicit details regarding the use of MAS may not be supplied (Xu & Crouch 2008). Also, private sector plant breeders usually do not disclose information about breeding strategies (Williams et al. 2007, Foolad 2007, Xu & Crouch 2008, Hospital 2009, Utomo & Linscombe 2009). As private breeding companies do not accord the same sort of prestige to new varieties developed by MAS that is granted to new geneticallyengineered varieties, it remains largely unknown that there are, for example, hundreds of tomato hybrids on the market, which were developed using marker-assisted selection.

One of the most successful applications of MAS today has been that for introgressing and/or pyramiding major effect genes (Francia et al. 2005, Foolad 2007, Dwivedi et al. 2007, Xu & Crouch 2008). This approach has led to the commercial release of several diseaseresistant cultivars in barley, bean, pearl millet, rice, soybean, wheat and tomato. Further successful applications resulted in the release of varieties with improved quality, such as a high-quality protein maize variety in India and low-amylose rice varieties in the USA. In addition, MAS breeding also achieved the improvement of complex traits such as drought-tolerance in an aerobic rice variety and yield in tomato (see Table 1).

Although the actual impact of MAS on the release of new crop varieties is difficult to assess, many scientists advance the view that MAS is still in its early phase, in particular for improving quantitative traits (Semagn et al. 2006, Foolad 2007, Reynolds & Tuberosa 2007, Collard & Mackill 2008, Xu & Crouch 2008, Collins et al. 2008, Walsh 2009, Heffner et al. 2009). To speed up its implementation, the application gap between research laboratories and plant breeding institutes should be closed (Collard & MacKill 2008). Marker technology has not often reached the breeders in the desired measure. Therefore, a more effective collaboration between molecular biologists and plant breeders needs to be worked out (Semagn et al. 2006, Dargie 2007, Reece & Haribabu 2007, Collard & Mackill 2008). In addition, DNA marker technology is still at an early stage (Collard & MacKill 2008), and the current costs of applying MAS are still a limiting factor for many breeding programmes (Xu & Crouch 2007, Collard & Mackill 2008).

There is optimism that MAS will realise its enormous potential and will therefore give rise to a much greater level of adoption in plant breeding in the near future (Collard & Mackill 2008). Among the several factors contributing to this optimism are new technological advances such as new marker technologies (Ganal et al. 2009, Gupta et al. 2008), association mapping (Zhu et al. 2008, Takeda & Matsuoka 2008, Nordborg & Weigel 2008), genomic selection (Bernardo & Yu, Walsh 2009, Heffner et al. 2009) and metabolomics-assisted breeding (Fernie & Schauer 2009). Over the next decade, MAS is projected to become cheaper and easier to apply at large scale and knowledge from genomic research should become more readily translated into breeding tools and thus more routinely used in breeding programmes (Xu & Crouch 2008). In the short term, it is expected that the greatest growth in MAS will be for qualitative traits that are difficult or expensive to select by conventional phenotypic methods (Dwivedi et al. 2007, Xu & Crouch 2008). In the medium term, it is envisaged that there will be a shift from MAS for qualitative traits to MAS for breeding quantitative traits (Dwivedi et al. 2007, Xu & Crouch 2008).

image Close-up shot of 'Nap-Hal' wheat, growing in Germany in 2003. The 'Nap-Hal' patent is owned by Monsanto.

Breeder

Year of



HEIKO MEYER / GREENPEACE

Table 1.0:

Plant

Cultivar /

Trait

Country

Commercially available MAS-	Plant	Cultivar / Breeding Line	Trait	Country	Year of Release	Breeder
varieties developed by public	Barley	Tango	Disease resistance	USA	2000	Oregon State University 1)
institutions		SloopSA	Disease resistance	Australia	2002	University of Adelaide ²⁾
		GairdnerPlus	Disease resistance	Australia	2006	University of Adelaide 3)
*: Westmore is a durum wheat variety.		Doria	Disease resistance	Italy	2006	Istituto Sperimentale per la Cerealicoltura 4)
Abbreviations: ICRISAT: International Crops Research Institute fort he	Bean	USPT-ANT-1	Disease resistance	USA	2004	USDA-ARS ⁵⁾
Semi-Arid tropics; n.K.: not known; USDA-ARS: United		ABCP-8	Disease resistance	USA	2005	University of Nebraska / USDA-ARS ⁶⁾
States Department of Agriculture - Agricultural Research Service.		ABC-Weihing	Disease resistance	USA	2006	University of Nebraska / USDA-ARS 7)
References: 1): Hayes et al. 2003,		USDK-CBB-15	Disease resistance	USA	2006	USDA-ARS ⁸⁾
Rost 2001; 2): Langridge & Barr 2003, Eglinton et al. 2006;	Maize	Vivek QPM 9	High-Quality Protein	India	2008	Indian Council of Agricultural Research ⁹⁾
3): Eglinton et al. 2006;4): Kosova et al. 2008;	Pearl millet	HHB 67-2	Disease resistance	India	2005	Haryana Agricultural University / ICRISAT ¹⁰⁾
5): Miklas et al. 2003,Suszkiw 2004;6): Mutlu et al. 2005;	Rice	Cadet	Low- amylose	USA	2000	Texas Agricultural Experiment Station ¹¹⁾
7): Mutlu et al. 2003,7): Mutlu et al. 2008;8): 9): Mudur 2008, Gupta et		Jacinto	Low- amylose	USA	2000	Texas Agricultural Experiment Station ¹¹⁾
al. 2009; 10) : Dar et al. 2006; 11) : Dwivedi et al.		XieYou 218	Disease resistance	China	2001	China National Rice Research Institute ¹²⁾
2007; 12): Cheng et al. 2007; 13): Toennissen et al. 2003; 14): 15): 16):		Angke	Disease resistance	Indonesia	2002	n.k. ¹³⁾
Chandrasheka 2007; Gandhi 2007; 17) : Gopalakrishnan		Conde	Disease resistance	Indonesia	2002	n.k. ¹³⁾
et al. 2008; 18): Sundaram et al. 2008; 19): Core 2005, Arelli et al. 2007; 20):		Tubigan 7	Disease resistance	Philippines	2006	Philippine Rice Research Institute ¹⁴⁾
Lipman et al. 2007; 21) : Hospital 2009;		Tubigan 11	Disease resistance	Philippines	2007	Philippine Rice Research Institute ¹⁵⁾
 22): WheatCAP 2009; 23: Kidwell et al. 2008; 24: AOSCA 2008 		MAS 946-1	Drought- tolerance	India	2007	University of Agricultural Sciences 16)
25: WheatCAP 2009.		Pusa 1460	Disease resistance	India	2007	Indian Agricultural Research Institute
		RP Bio 226	Disease resistance	India	2007	Directorate of Rice Research 18)
	Soybean	JTN-5303	Disease resistance	USA	2005	University of Tennessee and USDA- ARS ¹⁹⁾
	Tomato	Ab2	High Yield	USA	2002	Hebrew University of Jerusalem ²⁰)
	Wheat	Patwin	Disease resistance	USA	2006	University of California, Davis ²¹⁾
		Expresso	Disease resistance	USA	2006	University of California, Davis ²²⁾
		Lassik	Disease resistance Protein content	USA	2007	University of California, Davis ²²⁾
		Farnum	Disease resistance Protein content	USA	2008	Washington State University ²³⁾
		Westmore*	Disease resistance Protein content	USA	2007	University of California, Davis ²⁴⁾
		AGS2026	Disease resistance	USA	2007	University of Georgia ²⁵⁾

4) Feature I: MAS for superior rice

Rice is the world's most important food crop and a primary source of food for more than half the world's population (Khush 2005). In 2007, 645 million tonnes of rice were produced in 114 countries, with 90% of the harvest grown and consumed in Asia (Skamnioti & Gurr 2009).

Technological advances during the last 40 years led to an increase in rice production by 150%. However, according to various estimates, rice production will have to be increased further to satisfy growing demand (Khush 2005). To achieve the goal of increasing rice production in a sustainable manner, a number of challenges have to be met, including narrow genetic diversity in modern rice varieties, increase in severe occurrence of insects and diseases, decline in arable land, global water shortage, global climate change and increasing demand for high-quality rice (Zhang 2007, Jena & Mackill 2008, Collard et al. 2008, Peng et al. 2009).

Because of rice's global importance, small genome size, and genetic relatedness to other major cereal crops, an enormous amount of research activities have addressed rice genetics and genomics in the past decade (Collard et al. 2008). Sequence drafts of the entire genomes of two subspecies of rice – indica and japonica – were

completed in 2002 (Goff et al. 2002, Yu et al. 2002) and a high-quality version of the japonica species was publicised in 2005 (IRGSP 2005). Furthermore, hundreds of germplasm evaluations and genetic studies have identified a large variety of genes and QTLs. The database Gramene³ currently lists more than 8,000 entries for QTLs detected in rice. The wealth of these genomic data is now being applied to MAS-breeding programmes (Table 2), which aim at developing new improved rice varieties to meet the future challenges.

In the past two decades there has been much research into the genetic engineering of rice. Rice lines have been genetically engineered for resistance to diseases, resistance to insects, tolerance of herbicides, tolerance of abiotic stress, nutritional traits and photosynthetic traits. However, to date only three genetically-engineered herbicide-tolerant rice lines have passed regulatory approval for cultivation, whereas the approval is restricted to the USA (Abgios 2009). Despite the permission for cultivation, none of the three lines has yet been commercialised.

Whereas genetically-engineered rice lines have not yet received commercial approval, the first MAS-developed rice cultivars are commercially grown by farmers in the developing world, as will be shown in the following sections.

Table 2.0: Examples of traits,	Biotic Stresses	Abiotic Stresses	Grain Quality	Agronomic Traits	
for which marker- assisted breeding is being applied	Blast Resistance	Submergence Tolerance	Cooking Quality	Yield	
in rice.	Bacterial Leaf Blight Resistance	Salt Tolerance	Eating Quality		
	Tungro Virus Resistance	Drought Tolerance	Appearance Quality		
Information according to Jena & Mackill 2008, Collard et al. 2008, Leung 2008 and	Gall Midge Resistance	Cold Tolerance			
Zhang 2007.	Brown Planthopper Resistance				
	Green Leafhopper Resistance				
	Green Rice Leafhopper Resistance				

image Conventional maize field in Germany. Wind spreads pollen and genetic information to other plants.



4.1 MAS controls bacterial leaf blight

Bacterial leaf blight caused by the pathogen Xanthomonas oryzae pv oryzae (Xoo) is one of the most widely distributed and devastating rice diseases worldwide (Rao et al. 2002).

The most effective approach to combating bacterial blight is the use of resistant varieties in combination with agricultural management practices. Resistance genes have been detected in landraces (e.g. xa2 and xa5) and in wild rice species (e.g. xa21 in O. longistaminata) (Pha & Lang 2004). So far, 28 genes conferring resistance to different Xoo races have been identified (Dwivedi et al. 2007. Gopalakrishnan et al. 2008), and some of them have been incorporated into modern rice varieties by conventional breeding. As conventional backcrosses usually succeed in transferring only one gene at the same time, the large-scale and long-term cultivation of the conventionally-bred varieties resulted in evolution of newer races of the pathogen leading to breakdown of resistance in rice varieties across several Asian countries. One way to delay such a breakdown is to pyramid multiple resistance genes into a variety and to adjust agriculture management practices.

Gene pyramidising can be done by MAS or genetic engineering. Although several genetically-engineered rice lines containing genes for bacterial blight resistance have been tested in the laboratory or under field conditions (e.g. Tu et al. 2000, Zhai et al. 2001, Gandikota et al. 2001), none of these lines has yet been commercialised. Rather, the first biotechnology-derived bacterial blight resistant rice varieties commercially available resulted from pyramiding natural resistance genes via MAS.

Xieyou 218: first MAS-developed rice variety in China

For more than a decade, MAS has been extensively applied for the improvement of bacterial blight (BB) resistance in the rice breeding programmes in China. Breeding BB resistant rice, scientists from the China National Rice Research Institute (CNRRI) applied MAS, at each generation, to select individuals carrying the resistance gene. This resulted in hybrid rice Xieyou 218, which was released for cultivation in 2002. Xieyou 218 is believed to be the first MAS-developed rice variety commercially released in China (Cheng et al. 2007)

Angke and Conde fight bacterial blight in Indonesia

In January 2002, the government of Indonesia released two new rice varieties, Angke and Conde, which were derived by disease resistance breeding augmented with MAS to pyramid BB resistance genes into a commercially adapted variety (Toennissen et al. 2003). Angke and Conde carry the gene pyramids xa4 + xa5 and xa4 + xa7, respectively (Jena & Mackill 2008). Because both new varieties are derived from an existing popular variety, the MAS-improved products are well accepted by farmers and consumers.

Tubigan 7 controls bacterial blight in the Phillippines

In 2006, the first MAS-developed rice variety was released to the market in the Philippines. The variety, called Tubigan 7 or NSIC Rc142 and developed by plant breeders at the Philippine Rice Research Institute (PRRI), contains the three resistance genes xa4, xa5 and xa21 integrated in the genetic background of IR64 (Toenniessen et al. 2003), a highly popular rice variety in the Philippines. Tubigan 7 was released to the market after almost 10 years breeding work, which was supported by a research grant from the Rockefeller Foundation.

Pusa 1460: MAS results in first bacterial blight resistance in the aromatic germplasm

Basmati rice is highly susceptible to bacterial blight. As there is no known source of resistance in the available aromatic rice germplasm, breeders have to introgress resistance genes from non-Basmati varieties. However, this approach is challenged by the difficulties in recovering the aromatic Basmati gualities in the resulting variety. Now, thanks to MAS, researchers from the Indian Agricultural Research Institute have overcome these difficulties.

In crosses between a bacterial blight resistant non-Basmati rice variety and the popular high-yielding Basmati variety Pusa Basmati 1, they used molecular markers to select for both introgression of bacterial blight resistance genes x13 and xa21 and the recovery of the grain and cooking guality characteristics of Pusa Basmati 1 (Gopalakrishnan et al. 2008). The resulting variety, called Pusa 1460 or 'Improved Pusa Basmati 1', was released in India in 2007. Pusa 1460 is the only source of bacterial blight resistance now available in the aromatic germplasm and is being used as a donor for bacterial blight resistance in the Basmati improvement programme (Gopalakrishnan et al. 2008).

RP BIO 226: a triple pyramid against bacterial blight in India

Samba Mahsuri is a grain indica rice variety that is very popular with farmers and consumers across India because of its high yield and excellent cooking quality. However, the variety is susceptible to several diseases and pests, including bacterial blight. Using molecular markerassisted backcross breeding, researchers from the Centre for Cellular and Molecular Biology (CCMB) and Indian Council of Agricultural Research (ICAR) introduced three genes for BB resistance (xa21, xa13 and xa5) into Samba Mahsuri (Sundaram et al. 2008). The resulting variety, RP Bio 226, was approved for commercialisation in 2007 (CSIR news 2007). Under conditions of bacterial blight infection, RP Bio 226 exhibits a significant yield advantage over Samba Mahsuri. Most importantly, RP Bio 226 retains the excellent grain and cooking qualities of Samba Mahsuri without compromising the yield. This work demonstrates the successful application of marker-assisted selection for targeted introgression of multiple resistance genes into a premium quality rice variety (Sundaram et al. 2008).

4.2 MAS for better quality rice

Rice quality traits encompass cooking, appearance and sensory properties (Zhang 2007, Fitzgerald et al. 2009). Historically, the primary target of most rice breeding programmes was enhancing yield potential. Consequently, many popular high-yielding rice cultivars have relatively poor quality. With the increased living standard in developing countries and changed consumers' preferences, the improvement of quality has become a priority (Zhang 2007). In countries where rice is consumed, traits of grain quality dictate market value and have a pivotal role in the adoption of new varieties (Fitzgerald et al. 2009).

Given the importance of rice quality for consumer acceptance, programmes have been initiated to improve quality with MAS. The first MAS-developed varieties with enhanced quality have already been released to the market.

Cadet & Jacinto with unique cooking quality

Amylose content in the grain is one of the factors, which determines cooking and eating qualities in rice. Studying non-commercial rice cultivars scientists of the USDA Agricultural Research Service discovered a molecular marker associated with a gene that influences amylose content in rice grain. In the breeding process this marker enabled the rapid identification of succession lines that had the desired gene and to discard those without. The outcome was the release of two new cultivars, Cadet and Jacinto, which have unique cooking and processing quality (Hardin 2000). Developing the two new cultivars took only five years rather than the usual seven to ten years with conventional breeding.

4.3 MAS tackles water shortage

Rice production consumes about 30% of all freshwater used worldwide (Peng et al. 2006). In Asia, more than 45% of total freshwater used is consumed by flood-irrigated rice (Peng et al. 2006). The demand for water-saving agriculture is increasing, as fresh-water resources are declining and the competition for this water between urban areas, the industrial sector and agriculture is increasing (Molden 2007). Tuong & Bouman (2003) estimate that, by 2025, 15 out of 75 million hectares of Asia's flood-irrigated rice crop will experience water shortage.

To tackle the problem of severe water shortage, production management methods to save water in rice cultivation must urgently be disseminated. In northeast China, for example, water-saving management practices are used that not only save almost 50% of water and reduce methane gas, but also take advantage of the fact that when 'drought stress' is applied at the right moment, there is a yield boost as the plant channels all its resources into the grain to ensure survival of the offspring. Another approach to reducing water inputs in rice is to grow the crop in the same way as an irrigated upland crop, such as wheat or maize (Tuong & Bouman 2003). This approach, called 'aerobic rice system', makes use of varieties that combine the drought-resistant characteristics of traditional upland rice varieties with the high-yielding characteristics of lowland rice varieties (Lafitte et al. 2002, Atlin et al. 2006). Total water use of aerobic rice can be between 25% to 50% lower than that of flooded rice (Bouman et al. 2005).

Aerobic rice may replace irrigated rice and rain-fed lowland rice in some parts of the world, as is already occurring in northeast China (Bernier et al. 2008). However, at times there can be a large yield gap between aerobic and flooded rice and the yield losses of aerobic rice could outweigh the benefits of its water savings. Therefore, before aerobic rice technology can be adopted in large areas in the tropics, new aerobic rice varieties with minimum yield gaps compared to flooded varieties have to be developed (Peng et al. 2006, Tuong et al. 2004).

MAS 946-1 rice saves 60% of water.

"In today's scenario of global warming, water scarcity and changing temperatures, this new variety is a boon for the marginal farmers,"

Shailaja Hittalmani told F&B News (Chandrashekar 2007).

In 2007, MAS 946-1 became the first drought tolerant aerobic rice variety released in India. To develop the new variety, scientists at the University of Agricultural Sciences (UAS), Bangalore, crossed a deeprooted upland japonica rice variety from the Philippines with a high-yielding indica variety. Bred with MAS, the new variety consumes up to 60% less water than traditional varieties. In addition, MAS 946-1 gives yields comparable with conventional varieties (Gandhi 2007). The new variety is the product of five years of research by a team lead by Shailaja Hittalmani at UAS, with funding from the International Rice Research Institute and the Rockefeller Foundation (Gandhi 2007).

4.4 MAS offers saline solution

"However, the fact remains that these transgenic plants showing improved performance towards salinity stress are yet to move from 'lab to the land'."

Singh et al. 2008

Rice varieties grown in saline environments are sensitive at both the vegetative and reproductive stages (Jena & Mackill 2008). Salinity is the second most widespread soil problem in rice-growing countries after drought (Mohammadi-Nejad et al. 2008). Of the 130 million hectares of land where rice is grown, about 30% contains levels of salt too high to allow normal rice yield (Naheed et al. 2007). The reduction in yields of rice under moderately salt-affected soils is estimated to be 68% (Naheed et al. 2007).

image A Hani farmer is holding his traditional rice seeds in his hand, Yunnan Province, China.



Salt tolerance is a complex and multigenic trait (Flowers 2004). Breeding salt tolerance rice varieties is, therefore, a challenging endeavour. The high variation for salt tolerance within rice landraces and varieties gives the opportunity to improve salt-stress tolerance through conventional breeding. Although conventional breeding programmes have developed some salt-tolerant rice varieties and several lines were released in the Philippines, Bangladesh and India (Ismail et al. 2007), the overall success of conventional breeding is low (Ismail et al. 2007, Singh et al. 2008). Therefore, there remains an urgent need to raise rice varieties that withstand high levels of salt and at the same time maintain optimum yield levels.

Although genetic engineering approaches for enhanced salt tolerance in rice have gained ground among scientists (e.g. Saijo et al. 2000, Hoshida et al. 2000, Ma et al. 2005, Su et al. 2006), progress has been slow (Yamaguchi & Blumwald 2005) and the achievements made so far are not astounding (Ashraf et al. 2008, Arzani 2008). Complex traits of abiotic stress phenomena in plants make genetic modification for efficient stress tolerance difficult to achieve (Wang et al. 2003). The question as to which are the best candidate genes related to salinity stress tolerance improvement is still baffling plant scientists (Singh et al. 2008). The complexity of salt tolerance is likely to mean that the road to engineering such tolerance into sensitive species will be long (Flowers 2004).

Whereas rice varieties genetically engineered for improved performance towards salinity stress are yet to move 'from lab to the land' (Singh et al. 2008), the first salt tolerant rice varieties developed by MAS are now moving forward to the market.

The development of these MAS varieties started in 1997, when scientists at the International Rice Research Institute (IRRI) initiated a mapping programme for salinity tolerance in rice landraces. Four years later, a team at the IRRI, the Philippine Rice Research Institute, the Bangladesh Rice Research Institute and the University of California discovered a major QTL for salt tolerance in the rice landrace Pokkali (Bonilla et al. 2002). This QTL, named Saltol, accounts for between 40 and 65% of the salt tolerance observed, and confers tolerance during the seedling stage. After the discovery, a precision marker-assisted backcrossing approach was used to incorporate Saltol into popular rice varieties in Bangladesh, Vietnam and India (Leung 2008, Ismail et al. 2007). In Bangladesh, for example, Saltol was transferred into two mega rice varieties, BR11 and BR28. It is expected that the newly salt-tolerant BR11 and BR28 will be ready to give to farmers by late 2009 and early 2010 respectively (Rahman et al. 2008).

4.5 MAS makes rice waterproof

In the south and southeast of Asia, rice cultivation is severely affected by submergence in fields because of heavy monsoon rains and poor drainage (Jena & Mackill 2008). Rice plants are sometimes submerged for several weeks, which can sharply reduce yields. The economic loss due to submergence is estimated to be up to USD 1 billion annually (Neeraja et al. 2007, Collins et al. 2008).

Conventional breeding efforts to improve submergence in rice varieties have been going on for more than three decades. Although submergence-tolerant varieties have been developed, they have never been widely adopted by farmers since they lack the desirable traits of the mega varieties, which are popular in the major rice-growing areas of Asia (Septiningsih et al. 2009, Neeraja et al. 2007). Scientists now apply a MAS strategy to overcome this constraint.

To ensure the adoption of the final approach by the farmers, researchers from the IRRI started a breeding programme to convert rice mega varieties by MAS. They work with Sub1, a major QTL that confers submergence tolerance. Sub1 was originally mapped in a landrace from India (Xu et al. 2006), which can survive up to two weeks of complete submergence. One of the mega varieties used by IRRI scientists is Swarna, a rice cultivar widely grown in flood-prone regions in India. In collaboration with the Indian Directorate of Rice Research, IRRI scientists succeeded in converting submergence-susceptible Swarma into submergence-tolerant Swarma-Sub in only three years (Neeraja et al. 2007). Swarna-Sub1 shows a twofold or higher yield advantage over Swarna after submergence for 10 days or more during the vegetative stage (Septiningsih et al. 2009). Equally important, the introgression of Sub1 was accomplished without affecting yield, plant height, harvest index or grain quality of Swarna, therefore ensuring high acceptance by farmers. Seeds of Swarna-Sub 1 are being produced now in India and Bangladesh for wide-scale distribution to farmers expecting market release in 2009 or 2010.

Swarna is not the only rice mega variety being utilised to breed submergence tolerance. IRRI scientists also use Samba Mahsuri and CR1009 from India, IR64 from the Philippines, TDK1 from Laos and BR11 from Bangladesh as recipient parents to introgress the QTL Sub1 (Septiningsih et al. 2009). Field trials gave encouraging results. The Sub1 lines were superior under stress and there were no significant differences under non-stress conditions (Septiningsih et al. 2009). It is expected that some of the Sub1 varieties could be released to the market in 2010.

In summary, the work on Sub1 shows that using a MAS approach to incorporate submergence tolerance can enhance mega varieties of rice. This approach has not only gained a lot of attention in scientific literature (Gad 2009, Normile 2008, Ronald 2008, Collins et al. 2008, Jena & Mackill 2008, Sasaki 2006), it also demonstrates that MAS can result in timely achievements given the increasing vulnerability of rice farming to flash floods provoked by the recent trends in climate change.

5) Feature II: Drought tolerance – breeding to fight against the 'big dry'

"There are hundreds of patents that claim inventions that may improve drought tolerance. But it is hard to discern any of these likely to influence water productivity in the field."

Passioura 2006

Drought is one of the stresses that threaten worldwide crop productivity most severely. Due to global climate change, droughts are predicted to occur more frequently.

Drought is a quantitative trait, in which numerous genes are involved, each of which having only small effects on the plant properties. The polygenic nature of drought resistance implies that several genes or chromosal regions (QTLs) must be introgressed at the same time in order to obtain a significant impact. Breeding drought-tolerant varieties is therefore extremely difficult. This holds true not only for conventional breeding approaches, but also for MAS (Francia et al. 2005) and genetic engineering (Passioura 2006). Whereas conventional breeding and MAS have had at least some impact on the direct release of drought-tolerant varieties (for examples, see below), no geneticallyengineered drought-tolerant crop has been commercialised to date. Even though some 50 genes have been reported to confer drought tolerance when over-expressed in genetically-engineered plants (Braidotti 2008), and a number of field trials have been conducted, there is scepticism that a panacea can be delivered in the form of a single 'drought-tolerant' gene. "To think gene transfer replaces conventional breeding for drought is unrealistic," says Matthew Reynolds of CIMMYT, the International Maize and Wheat Improvement Centre (cited in Finkel 2009). John Passioura from CSIRO Plant Industry writes (Passioura 2006): "The hope that plants can be transformed by one or at most a few genes to grow well with very scarce water is in my view misplaced." The complexity of the drought tolerance is likely to mean that the road to genetically engineering drought tolerance into sensitive varieties will be long. Meanwhile, conventionally-bred drought-tolerant crops, such as ZM521 maize and the wheat variety Drysdale and Rees, are grown on farmers' fields.

ZM521 offers better livelihoods for poor farmers

The breeding of drought-tolerant varieties by conventional approaches is hampered mainly by the complex, polygenic nature of drought tolerance. However, there have been some successes in developing drought tolerance by conventional breeding. One of the examples is the open-pollinated maize variety ZM521 developed by the International Maize and Wheat Improvement Centre (CIMMYT). To develop the new variety, scientist from CIMMYT drew on thousands of native varieties of corn from seed banks, which were built up through decades of free exchange of landraces around the globe (Charles 2001). Through repeated cycles of inbreeding and selection, the scientists uncovered the previously hidden genetic traits that enable maize to withstand drought. Going further along the breeding process, CIMMYT scientist chose a participatory approach. They involved small farmers, NGOs and other stakeholders in the selection process of the best varieties. The result of this 'mother-baby-trial' approach is ZM521, a maize variety that not only exhibits remarkable vigour when afflicted by water shortage, but also yields between 30 and 50% more than traditional varieties under drought (CIMMYT 2001). Another of the pro-poor advantages of ZM521 is that it is open-pollinated. Because of cash constraints, smallholder farmers often resort to planting saved maize grain from the previous harvest. In contrast to hybrid and genetically-engineered maize varieties, such home-saved seeds can be used in open-pollinated forms. ZM521 seeds are now available free-of-charge to seed distributors around the world and in several African countries, including South Africa and Zimbabwe, ZM521 has been released for cultivation on farmers' fields.

Drysdale and Rees give more crop per drop

The wheat varieties Drysdale and Rees are two further notable examples showing that conventional breeding can develop drought tolerance. By using the so-called DELTA technique, a gene selection approach based on carbon isotope discrimination, wheat-breeding scientists from Australia's Commonwealth Scientific and Industrial Research Organisation (CSIRO) succeeded in increasing the wateruse efficiency, which confers drought tolerance. Drysdale, for example, can outperform other varieties by up to 40% under very dry conditions (Richards 2006). The two drought-tolerant wheat varieties have been released for commercial cultivation in Australia by Graingene, a joint venture between AWB Limited, the Grains Research and Development Corporation (GRDC), Syngenta and CSIRO Plant Industry (Glover et al. 2005).

According to CIMMYT maize physiologist José Luis Araus, the DELTA technique developed by CSIRO has revolutionised breeding for drought tolerance. He is applying the technique now to breed drought tolerant maize in sub-Saharan Africa (Finkel 2009).

image Conventional maize suspected of being contaminated by genetically modified maize crops. Mexico.



MAS for drought tolerance: outlook

Several recent publications reported the detection of QTLs with large effects for yield under drought. Most of the hitherto detected QTLs only had small effects and usually accounted for around 10% of the observed variation in drought tolerance. Now, major QTLs with large effects (accounting for more than 30% of the variation) have been found in maize (Landi et al. 2007), rice (Bernier et al. 2007, 2009, Kumar et al. 2007) and sorghum (Harris et al. 2007). They give promising opportunities for improving drought tolerance by MAS in these crops.

Another encouraging example is provided by the scientists who developed the wheat variety Drysdale (see above). To further improve Drysdale, the scientists now use DNA markers that track genes conferring drought tolerance. A variety developed by this MAS approach should be ready for commercialisation in 2010 (Finkel 2009).

6) Feature III: MAS harnesses biodiversity

"Although some scientists favour transgenic approaches, a 'back to nature' approach to genetic diversity may prove faster and more effective."

Johal et al. 2008

"Perhaps most important, MAS will facilitate more efficient utilisation of new genetic variation from exotic sources, which will provide considerable added value."

Xu & Crouch 2008

Plant breeding has led to increased productivity but, at the same time, it has narrowed the genetic basis of crop species. As a result, in most crops, the currently-cultured germplasm only represents a small section of the vast diversity available in the species. It is estimate that for most crop species, less than 5% of the biodiversity known to exist is being utilised in agriculture, particularly in the case of self-pollinated crops (Tanksley and McCouch, 1997).

Despite many studies that have demonstrated the value of genes or alleles originating from wild species and landraces (Tanksley and McCouch, 1997, Hajjar & Hodgkin 2007), breeders are traditionally reluctant about the use of non-cultivar germplasm in their breeding programmes due to complex, long-term and unpredictable outcomes; particularly in crops where quality traits are important market criteria (Peleman & van der Voort 2003b). Marker-assisted selection now enables the breeders to precisely introgress small sectors of wild species or landraces, thereby providing breeders with the tools to effectively unleash the vast resources held in wild genetic variation (Peleman & van der Voort 2003b, Xu & Crouch 2008, Zhu et al. 2008). This use of marker-assisted selection to 'unlock' wild genetic variation, already suggested 10 years ago (Tanksley & McCouch 1997), has gained renewed interest in recent years (Johal et al. 2008, Hospital 2009). There are several reasons for this: advances in guantitative genetics and genomic technologies have facilitated the exploration and utilisation of natural genetic variation (Hajjar & Hodgkin 2008, Johal et al. 2008); as it is feared that currently-cultivated germplasm is illequipped to withstand predicted changes in the environment due to global warming, the ability to map adaptive genes and QTLs in collections of landraces or samples from wild species has been recognised as having great potential for future trait improvement and food security (Johal et al. 2008); the realisation that genetic engineering may not boost plant yields and sustainability as quickly as hoped and that, in contrast, a 'back to nature' approach to genetic

diversity may prove faster and more effective than the genetic engineering approaches (Johal et al. 2008, Zamir 2001); the experimental demonstration of the potential of marker-assisted selection for unlocking natural variation (Hospital 2009); and finally, the successful development of commercially-available varieties such as AB2 tomato and Vivek QPM 9 maize (see below).

Taken together, the idea of using natural genetic variation found in wild species and early landrace varieties to revitalise modern crop varieties is both emotionally appealing and intellectually compelling (McCouch 2004). The utilisation of a marker-assisted approach provides a non-invasive road map to expedite the selective introgression of useful traits in the future (McCouch 2004). In the words of Dani Zamir from the Hebrew University of Jerusalem, "The time has come for the plant breeding community to move back to nature." (Zamir 2008)

AB2 tomato breaks agricultural yield barriers

One striking example of how MAS can be used to exploit natural variation is the development of the tomato variety AB2. To develop this variety, researchers from the Hebrew University of Jerusalem and the Max-Planck-Institut für Molekulare Pflanzenphysiologie in Golm introduced chromosome segments of the inedible wild species Solanum pennelii into the genetic background of an elite tomato variety via marker-assisted selection (Lippman et al. 2007, Fridman et al. 2004). This approach enabled the identification of a yield-associated QTL named Brix9-2-5. In collaboration with breeders of the Israeli company, AB Seeds, the processing tomato variety AB2 was developed, harbouring the QTL Brix9-2-5 and showing a high yield and increased sugar content. In 2008, AB2 was the leading tomato variety in California (PTAB 2009), which is the largest world producer of industrial processing tomatoes.

By breaking agricultural yield barriers, the AB2 tomato not only provides an example of the indispensable value of natural biodiversity for yield improvement, it also provides the rational for implementing similar strategies for other agricultural organisms that are important for global food security.

Vivek QPM 9 speeds up quality protein improvement in maize

Although maize is widely used as both food and feed, normal maize kernels do not provide sufficient quantities of two essential amino acids, lysine and tryptophan (Babu et al. 2004). However, in a Peruvian maize landrace a naturally occurring gene, opaque-2, was discovered. This gene confers improved protein quality due to increased levels of lysine and tryptophan in the kernels (Dwivedi et al. 2007).

Utilising the opaque-2 gene, conventional breeding procedures have been successfully used to convert commercial maize lines into socalled Quality Protein Maize (QPM) (e.g. Krivanek et al. 2007). In countries where maize is an important component of the human diet, the release and adoption of QPM maize offers an opportunity to not only improve maize production but also to greatly improve the nutritional status and livelihood of the farmers, particularly the poor subsistence maize growers (Hussain et al. 2006).

Although conventional breeding procedures have been used successfully to convert commercial lines to QPM forms, the procedure is highly cumbersome and time-consuming (Babu et al. 2004, Semagn et al. 2006). Now, researchers from the Indian Council of Agricultural Research (ICAR) have developed a marker-assisted technique that enables a simple, rapid and efficient way to breed QPM maize (Gupta et al. 2009). Following the MAS method, the Indian scientists converted many promising inbred lines of maize into QPM. In 2008, the first of these lines, the variety Vivek QPM 9, was released for commercial cultivation in India (Gupta et al. 2009). The markerassisted breeding technique sped up the creation of the new variety by several years. While conventional breeding techniques take nearly 10 years to develop a new variety of maize, with the help of markerassisted technology the Indian scientists were able to develop Vivek QPM 9 in just three. Furthermore, Vivek QPM 9 has been found suitable for cultivation under organic farming (Gupta et al. 2009).

MAS programmes to convert locally-adapted maize germplasm to QPM have also been initiated in Vietnam, China and Indonesia (Srinivasan et al. 2004).

image One striking example of how MAS can be used to exploit natural variation is the development of the tomato variety AB2, which has a high yield and increased sugar content. In 2008, it became the leading variety in California, the world's largest producer of industrial processing tomatoes.



7) Conventional and marker-assisted breeding for better nutrition

"Plant varieties identified by marker-assisted selection (MAS) are gaining prominence as a publicly acceptable alternative to transgenic crops, such as 'Golden' Rice."

PH 2008

"The use of biotechnological tools, such as molecular marker-assisted selection, will significantly increase the pace and prospects of success for breeding to improve the nutritional value of staple food crops."

Gregorio 2002

7: Garcia-Oliveira et al.

8: www.ciat.cgiar.org; 9: Salas-Fernandez et al.

10: Genc et al. 2009.

2009;

2008;

More than one-half of the world's population suffers from micronutrient deficiencies caused largely by a dietary lack of iron, zinc, and vitamin A. This 'hidden hunger' can have devastating consequences for the life, health and well-being of affected individuals. Women and children in sub-Saharan Africa, south and southeast Asia, Latin America and the Caribbean are especially at risk for disease, premature death, and impaired cognitive abilities because of diets lacking iron, zinc and vitamin A.

To combat vitamin A deficiency, consumption of locally-available vegetables, fruits and other plant foods, such as algae products, is encouraged by several programmes and promoted with success in several regions of the world (Lorch, 2005). Programmes to combat vitamin A deficiency that target the root problem in a holistic manner have been very successful in the past decade in countries like the Philippines or Bangladesh.

It has been argued by some that an increase of the vitamin A contents in staple crops – so-called bio-fortification – may also contribute to combating vitamin A deficiencies and that bio-fortification may complement current approaches such as commercial fortification of food and diet supplementation.

Whereas genetic engineering approaches to bio-fortification have attracted much publicity in recent years, is has largely remained unnoticed by the general public that conventional breeding and MAS represent a viable alternative to genetic modification strategies for biofortification. HarvestPlus, for example, an interdisciplinary alliance of institutions and scientists working to breed bio-fortified crops, devotes 85% of its resources to conventional breeding, because of regulatory and political restrictions on the use of genetic engineering approaches and because significant progress can be made through conventional breeding (Nestel et al. 2006).

Given the genetic variation in concentrations of zinc, iron, and provitamin A among cultivars, conventional and marker-assisted breeding have the potential to increase the micronutrient density of staple crops (Gregorio 2002, Bouis, 2003, Nestel et al. 2006). By exploring the genetic variation in existing varieties and in germplasm collections, genes and QTLs affecting vitamin and mineral contents have recently been identified in staple crops, including rice, maize, wheat, cassava, sorghum and pearl millet. Efficient molecular marker techniques now allow the genes to be tagged, and thus markers can be used to facilitate crossing the genes into new breeding lines (see Table 3 for ongoing research activities).

Table 2.0:	Plant	Trait	Institution	Ref.
Research projects	Bean	Iron	International Centre for Tropical Agriculture	1
for the nutritional		Zinc	International Centre for Tropical Agriculture	1
improvement of varieties by marker-	Cassava	Provitamin A	International Centre for Tropical Agriculture	2
assisted selection.	Maize	Maize Vitamin E National Maize Improvement Centre of China		3
		Provitamin A	Cornell University, CIMMYT	4
	Melon	Provitamin A	USDA Agricultural Research Service	5
References:	Pearl Millet	Provitamin A	International Crops Research Institute for the Semi-Arid Tropics	6
1: Blair et al. 2009; 2: www.ciat.cgiar.org	Rice	Zinc	China Agricultural University	7
3: Chander et al. 2008:		Iron	International Centre for Tropical Agriculture	8
4: Harjes et al. 2008;	Sorghum	Provitamin A	Cornell University	9
5: Cuevas et al. 2008; 6: ICBISAT 2009 [.]	Wheat	Zinc	Molecular Plant Breeding CRC	10

Marker-Assisted Selection 23

MAS enhances breeding of high provitamin A maize

Maize is a staple food for large groups of people in Africa. However, the traditional yellow maize varieties have low amounts of provitamin A, ranging from 0 to 1.5 micrograms (Davis et al. 2008, Harjes et al. 2008). As almost 50% of children in Africa under five are clinically or sub-clinically deficient in vitamin A (Stevens & Winter-Nelson 2008), the nutritional improvement of maize for provitamin A content would have a significant impact on the target populations.

There have been some genetic engineering approaches to increase provitamin A concentration in maize, with some success as reported recently (Naqvi, 2009). But CIMMYT, for example, currently focuses on non-transgenic approaches in its breeding programme, because provitamin A levels in conventionally-developed maize are higher that in genetically-engineered ones (Ortiz-Monasterio et al. 2007).

Given the great variation for provitamin A concentration in different maize varieties, there is considerable scope for conventionally bred maize with elevated provitamin A concentrations (Ortiz-Monasterio et al. 2007). Up to the present, conventional bio-fortification enhanced the provitamin A level to 15 micrograms (Tanumihardjo et al. 2008). This concentration is thought to be adequate to increase vitamin A in humans when maize is consumed as a staple crop (Tanumihardjo 2008).

In spite of the promising advances, conventional breeding approaches are currently hampered by the expense and time required to assess provitamin A concentration in maize kernels (Ortiz-Monasterio et al. 2007). But now, MAS offers a solution to overcome these limitations. Using state-of-the-art technology, a team of plant geneticists and crop scientists recently identified genetic markers that are associated with higher levels of provitamin A in maize (Harjes et al. 2008). With the help of these markers, provitamin A concentration in maize kernels can now be easily assessed. Scoring the target gene is not only cheaper than the previous methods used to assess provitamin A levels, it is also well within the capabilities of those developing countries that need biofortified maize. Moreover, the information needed for the markerassisted selection is being made freely available for breeders worldwide in this specific project. This is in contrast to transgenic Yellow Rice, which is a proprietary technology that has been made (partially) available to those who have the expertise to make use of it. In summary, if maize varieties with increased vitamin A contents are considered a valuable tool to combat vitamin A deficiencies, they can easily be bred using MAS without the need for genetic engineering.

Provitamin A enhanced sweet potato

Sweet potato, a staple food for many people in Africa, has also been suggested as a candidate crop for bio-fortification approaches aimed at alleviating vitamin A deficiency. Traditionally, Africa's predominant sweet potato varieties are white- or yellow-fleshed varieties containing no or only small amounts of provitamin A. However, substantial levels of provitamin A can be found in many orange-fleshed varieties of sweet potato and data show that regular consumption of these varieties does improve vitamin A status (Tanumihardjo et al. 2008).

In 2001, the International Potato Centre (CIP), together with about 40 other organisations, launched the Vitamin A Partnership for Africa (VITAA)4. Since then, the VITAA programme coordinates efforts of local plant breeders to select orange-fleshed varieties with enhanced levels of provitamin A using conventional methods and to promote their increased adoption by farmers in Africa (Johns & Eyzaguirre 2007). Today, bio-fortified sweet potato varieties are being disseminated in Africa. The VITAA programme has been most effective in Uganda, Kenya, Mozambique and Tanzania. Although not a silver bullet for curing malnutrition, the introduction of orange-fleshed sweet potatoes can be considered a success story (Tanumihardjo et al. 2008).

References

Agbios (2009). GM Crop Database. www.agbios.com/dbase.php?action=ShowForm

Aguiba, M.M. (2008). High-yielding rice varieties pushed to raise production.

www.bic.searca.org/news/2008/apr/phi/06.html (verified 20 March 2009).

Anonymous (2007). Plant breeding to cut chemical use. European Commission: Research – Biosociety. http://ec.europa.eu/research/biosociety/food_quality/projects/044_en.html (verified 20 March 2009). AOSCA (2008). National Small Grains Variety Review Board 2007.

www.aosca.org/VarietyReviewBoards/2007%20SGNVRB%20Report_Final_042607.pdf (verified 20 March 2009).

Arelli, P.R., Pantalone, V.R., Allen, F.L. & Mengistu, A. (2007). Registration of soybean germplasm JTN-5303. Journal of Plant Registrations 1: 69 – 70.

Arzani, A. (2008). Improving salinity tolerance in crop plants: a biotechnological view. In Vitro Cellular & Developmental Biology – Plant 44: 373 – 383.

Ashraf, M., Athar, H.R., Harris, P.J.C. & Kwon, T.R. (2008). Some prospective strategies for improving crop salt tolerance. Advances in Agronomy 97: 46 – 110.

Atlin, G.N., Lafitte, H.R., Tao, D., Laza, M., Amante, M. & Courtois, B. (2006). Developing rice cultivars for high-fertility upland systems in the Asian tropics. Field Crops Research 97: 43 – 52.

Babu, R., Nair, S.K., Prasanna, B.M. & Gupta, H.S. (2004). Integrating marker- assisted selection in crop breeding – Prospects and challenges. Current Science 87: 607 – 619.

Backes, G. & Østergård, H. (2008). Molecular markers to exploit genotype-environment interactions of relevance in organic growing systems. Euphytica 163: 523 – 531.

Bernardo, R. (2008). Molecular markers and selection for complex traits in plants: Learning from the last 20 years. Crop Science 48: 1649 – 1164.

Bernardo, R. & Yu, J.M. (2007). Prospects for genomewide selection for quantitative traits in maize. Crop Science 47: 1082 – 1090.

Bernier, J., Kumar, A., Ramaiah, V., Spaner, D. & Atlin, G. (2007). A large eff ect QTL for grain yield under reproductive-stage drought stress in upland rice. Crop Science 47: 507 – 518.

Bernier, J., Kumar, A., Serraj, R., Spaner, D. & Atlin, G. (2008). Review: breeding upland rice for drought resistance. Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture 88: 927 – 939.

Bernier, J., Serrai, R., Kumar, A., Venuprasad, R., Impa, S., Gowda, R.P.V., Oane, R., spaner, D. & Atlin, G. (2009). The large-effect drought-resistance QTL qtt12.1 increases water uptake in upland rice. Field Crops Research 139 – 146.

Blair, M.W., Astudillo, C., Grusak, M., Graham, R. & Beebe, S. (2009). Inheritance of seed iron and zinc content in common bean (Phaseolus vulgaris L.). Molecular Breeding 23: 197 – 207.

Bouman, B.A.M., Peng, S., Castaneda, A.R. & Visperas, R.M. (2005). Yield and water use of irrigated tropical aerobic rice systems. Agric. Water Manage. 74: 87 – 105.

Bonilla, P.S., Dvorak, J., Mackill, D., Deal, K. & Gregorio, G. (2002). RFLP and SSLP mapping of salinity tolerance genes in chromosome 1 of rice (Oryza sativa L.) using recombinant inbred lines. Philipp. Agric. Sci. 85: 64-74.

Bouis, H.E. (2000). Enrichment of food staples through plant breeding: a new strategy for fighting micronutrient malnutrition. Nutrition 16: 701 – 704.

Bouis HE. (2003). Micronutrient fortification of plants through plant breeding: can it improve nutrition in man at low cost? Proceedings of the Nutrition Society62:403 - 11.

Braidotti, G. (2008). Scientists share keys to drought tolerance. Grains Research & Development

Corporation. www.acpfg.com.au/files/latest_media/GRDC_24-01-2008.pdf (verified 20 March 2009). Brennan, J.P. & Martin, P.J. (2007). Returns to investment in new breeding technologies. Euphytica 157: 337 – 349

Cahill, D.J. & Schmidt, D.H. (2004). Use of marker assisted selection in a product development breeding program. In: Fischer, T. Turner, N., Angus, J., Mcintyre, L., Robertson, M. Borrell, A. & Lloyd, D. (eds.), New Directions for a Diverse Planet: Proceedings of the 4th International Crop Science Congress, Brisbane, Australia.

Catangui, M. A., Berg, R. K. (2006). Western Bean Cutworm, Striacosta albicosta (Smith) (Lepidoptera: Noctuidae), as a Potential Pest of Transgenic Cry1Ab Bacillus thuringiensis Corn Hybrids in South Dakota. Environmental Entomology, 35, (5):1439–1452

Chander, S., Guo, Y.Q., Yang, X.H., Yan, J.B., Zhang, Y.R., Song, T.M. & Li, J.S. (2008). Genetic dissection of tocopherol content and composition in maize grain using quantitative trait loci analysis and the candidate gene approach. Molecular Breeding 22: 353 – 365.

Chandrashekar, M.V. (2007). UAS develops aerobic rice. Food & Beverage News.

www.fnbnews.com/article/detarchive.asp?articleid=22118§ionid=34 (verified 20 March 2009). Charles, D. (2001). Seeds of discontent. Science 294: 772 – 775.

Cheng, S.-H., Zhuang, J.-Y., Fan, Y.-Y., Du, J.-H. & Cao, L.-Y. (2007). Progress in research and development on hybrid rice: a super-domesticate in China. Annals of Botany 100: 959 – 966.

Center for Food Safety (2005). Monsanto vrs US Farmers. www.centerforfoodsafety.org.

CIMMYT (2001). New maize offers better livelihoods for poor farmers.

www.cimmyt.org/Research/Maize/map/developing_world/nmaize/new_maize.htm (verified 20 March 2009).

Collard, B.C.Y. & Mackill, D.J. (2008). Marker-assisted selection: an approach for precision plant breeding in the twenty-first century. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B 363: 557 – 572.

Collard, B.C.Y., Jahufer, M.Z.Z., Brouwer, J.B. & Pang, E.C.K. (2005). An introduction to markers, quantitative trait loci (QTL) mapping and marker-assisted selection for crop improvement: The basic concepts. Euphytica 142(1-2): 169 – 196.

Collard, B.C.Y., Cruz, C.M.V., McNally, K.L., Virk, P.S. & Mackill, D.J. (2008). Rice molecular breeding laboratories in the genomics era: current status and future considerations. International Journal of Plant Genomics

Collinge, D.B., Lund, O.S. & Thordal-Christensen, H. (2008). What are the prospects for genetically engineered, disease resistant plants? European Journal of Plant Pathology 121: 217 – 231.

Collins, N.C., Tardieu, F. & Tuberosa, R. (2008). Quantitative trait loci and crop performance under abiotic stress: where do we stand? Plant Physiology 147: 469 – 486.

Core, J. (2005). New soybean resists nematodes and pathogens. ARS News Service. www.ars.usda.gov/IS/pr/2005/050929.2.htm (verified 20 March 2009).

Crouch J.H. & Ortiz, R. (2004). Applied genomics in the improvement of crops grown in Africa. African Journal of Biotechnology 3: 489 – 449.

Cuevas, H.E., Staub, J.E., Simon, P.W., Zalapa, J.E. & McCreight, J.D. (200(Mapping of genetic loci that regulate quantity of beta-carotene in fruit of US Western Shipping melon (Cucumis melo L.). Theoretical and Applied Genetics 117: 1345 – 1359.

Dafny-Yelin, M. & Tzfira, T. (2007). Delivery of multiple transgenes to plant cells. Plant Physiology 145: 1118 – 1128.

Dar, W.D., Reddy, B.V.S., Gowda, C.L.L. & Ramesh, S. (2006). Genetic resources enhancement of ICRISAT-mandate crops. Current Science 91: 880 – 884.

Dargie, J.D. (2007). Marker-assisted selection: policy considerations and options for developing countriesGuimaraes, E.P., Ruane, J., Scherf, B.D., Sonnino, A. & Dargie, J.D. (eds), Marker-assisted selection. Current status and future perspectives in crops, livestock, forestry and fish. Food and Agriculture Organisation of the United Nations (FAO), Rome, pp. 441 – 471.

Davis, C.R. Howe, J.A., Rocheford, R. & Tanumihardjo, S.A. (2008a). The xanthophyll composition of biofortified maize (Zea mays Sp.) does not influence the bioefficacy of provitamin a carotenoids in Mongolian gerbils (Meriones unguiculatus). Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry 56: 6745 – 6750.

Davis, C., Jing, H., Howe, J.A., Rocheford, T. & Tanumihardjo, S.A. (2008b). Beta-Cryptoxanthin from supplements or carotenoid enhanced maize maintains liver vitamin A in Mongolian gerbils (Meriones unguiculatus) better than or equal to Beta-carotene supplements. British Journal of Nutrition 100: 786 – 793.

Dawson, I.K., Hedley, P.E., Guarino, L. & Jaenicke, H. (2009). Does biotechnology have a role in the promotion of underutilised crops? Food Policy in press.

Dubcovsky, J. (2004). Marker-assisted selection in public breeding programs: The wheat experience. Crop Science 44: 1895 – 1898.

Dwivedi, S.L., Crouch, J.H. Mackill, D.J., Xu, Y., Blair, M.W., Ragot, M., Upadhyaya; H.D. Ortiz, R. (2007). The molecularization of public sector crop breeding: Progress, problems, and prospects. Advances in Agronomy 95: 163 – 318.

Eathington, S., Crosbie, T.M, Edwards, M.D., Reiter, R.S. & Bull, J.K. (2007). Molecular markers in a commercial breeding program. Crop Science 47(Suppl3): S154 – S163.

Edwards, J.D. & McCouch, S.R. (2007). Molecular markers for use in plant molecular breeding and gemplasm evaluation. In: Guimaraes, E.P., Ruane, J., Scherf, B.D., Sonnino, A. & Dargie, J.D. (eds), Marker-assisted selection. Current status and future perspectives in crops, livestock, forestry and fish. Food and Agriculture Organisation of the United Nations (FAO), Rome, pp. 29 – 50.

Eglinton, J. Coventry, S. & Chalmers, K. (2006). Breeding outcomes from molecular genetics. In: Mercer, C.F. (ed.), Breeding for success: diversity in action, Proceedings of the 13th Australasian Plant Breeding Conference, Christchurch, New Zealand, pp. 743 – 749.

Fernie, A.R. & Schauer, N. (2009). Metabolomics-assisted breeding: a viable option for crop improvement? Trends in Genetic 25: 39 – 48.

Fernie, A.R., Tadmor, Y. & Zamir, D. (2006). Natural genetic variation for improving crop quality , Current Opinion in Plant Biology 9: 196 – 202.

Finkel, E. (2009). Making every drop count in the buildup to a blue revolution. Science 323: 1004 – 1005. Fizgerald, M.A., McCouch, S.R. & Hall, R.D. (2009). Not just a grain of rice: the quest for quality. Trends in Plant Science 14: 133 – 137.

Flowers, T.J. (2004). Improving crop salt tolerance. Journal of Experimental Botany 55: 1 - 13.

Flowers, T.J. & Flowers, S.A. (2005). Why does salinity pose such a difficult problem for plant breeders? Agricultural Water Management 78: 15 – 24.

Francia, E., Tacconi, G. Crosatti, C., Barabaschi, D. Bulgarelli, D.. Dall'Aglio, E. & Vale, G. (2005). Marker assisted selection in crop plants. Plant Cell, Tissue and Organ Culture 82: 317 – 342.

Fridman, E., Carrari, F., Liu, Y.S., Fernie, A.R. & Zamir, D. (2004). Zooming in on a quantitative trait for tomato yield using interspecific introgressions. Science 305: 1786 – 1789.

Foolad, M.R. (2007). Genome Mapping and Molecular Breeding of Tomato. International Journal of Plant Genomics.

Gad, S.D. (2009). New "waterproof" rice developed. Current science 96: 332.

Ganal, M.W., Altmann, T. & Röder, M.S. (2009). SNP identification in crop plants. Current Opinion in Plant Biology 12: 1 – 7.

Gandikota, M., deKochko, A., Chen, L., Ithal, N., Fauquet, C. & Reddy, A.R. (2001). Development of transgenic rice plants expressing maize anthocyanin genes and increased blast resistance. Molecular Breeding 7: 73 – 83.

Gandhi, D. (2007). UAS scientist develops first drought tolerant rice. The Hindu. www.thehindu.com/2007/11/17/stories/2007111752560500.htm (verified 20 March 2009).

Ghandilyan, A., Vreugdenhil, D. & Aarts, M.G.M. (2006). Progress in the genetic understanding of plant iron and zinc nutrition. Physiologia Plantarum 126: 407 – 417.

Garcia-Oliveira, A.L., Tan, L., Fu, Y. & Sun, C. (2009). Genetic identification of quantitative trait loci for contents of mineral nutrients in rice grain. Journal of Integrative Plant Biology 51: 84 – 92.

Genc, Y., Verbyla, A.P., Torun, A.A., Cakmak, I., Willsmore, K., Wallwork, H. & McDonald, G.K. (2009). Quantitative trait loci analysis of zinc efficiency and grain zinc concentration in wheat using whole genome average interval mapping. Plant and Soil 314: 49 – 66.

Goff, S.A., Ricke, D., Lan, T.H., Presting, G., Wang, R., Dunn, M., Glazebrook, J., Sessions, A., Oeller, P., Varma, H., Hadley, D., Hutchison, D., Martin, C., Katagiri, F., Markus Lange, B., Moughamer, T., Xia, Y., Budworth, P., Zhong, J., Miguel, T., Paszkowski, U., Zhang, S., Colbert, M., Sun, W.L., Chen, L., Cooper, B., Park, S., Wood, T.C., Mao, L., Quail, P., Wing, R., Dean, R., Yu, Y., Zharkikh, A., Shen, R., Sahasrabudhe, S., Thomas, A., Cannings, R., Gutin, A., Pruss, D., Reid, J., Tavtigian, S., Mitchell, J., Eldredge, G., Scholl, T., Miller, R.M., Bhatnagar, S., Adey, N., Rubano, T., Tusneem, N., Robinson, R., Feldhaus, J., Macalma, T., Oliphant, A. & Briggs, S. (2002). A draft sequence of the rice genome (Orya sativa L. ssp. japonica). Science 296: 92 – 100.

Goodman, M.M. (2004). Plant breeding requirements for applied molecular biology. Crop Science 44: 1913 – 1914.

Gopalakrishnan, S., Sharma, R.K., Anand Rajkumar, K., Joseph, M., Singh, V.P., Singh, A.K., Bhat, K.V., Singh, N.K. & Mohapatra, T. (2008). Integrating marker assisted background analysis with foreground selection for identification of superior bacterial blight resistant recombinants in Basmati rice. Plant Breeding 127: 131 – 139.

Graham, R.D., Senadhira, D., Beebe, S.E., Iglesias, C. & Ortiz-Monasterio I. (1999). Breeding for micronutrient density in edible portions of staple food crops: conventional approaches. Field Crops Research 60: 57 – 80.

Gregorio, G.B. (2002). Progress in breeding for trace minerals in staple crops. Journal of Nutrition 132: 500S – 502S.

Gupta, P. K., Rustgi, S. & Mir, R. R. (2008). Array-based high-throughput DNA markers for crop improvement. Heredity 101(1): 5 - 18.

Gupta, H.S., Agrawal, P.K., Mahajan, V., Bisht, G.S., Kumar, A., Verma, P., Srivastava, A., Saha, S., Babu, R., Pant, M.C. & Mani, V.P. (2009). Quality protein maize for nutritional security: rapid development of short duration hybrids through molecular marker assisted breeding. Current Science 96 (2): 230 – 236.

Gur, A. & Zamir, D. (2004). Unused natural variation can lift yield barriers in plant breeding. PLoS Biology 2: 1610 – 1615.

Hajjar, R. & Hodgkin, T. (2007). The use of wild relatives in crop improvement: A survey of developments over the last 20 years. Euphytica 2007 156: 1 – 13.

Halpin, C. (2005). Gene stacking in transgenic plants – the challenge for 21st century plant biotechnology. Plant Biotechnology Journal 3: 141 – 155.

Hardin, B. (2000). Rice breeding gets marker assists. Available at

www.ars.usda.gov/is/AR/archive/dec00/rice1200.pdf (verified 18 Feb. 2009).

Haring, M. (2005). Field selection and marker-assisted breeding, to do or not to do in organic breeding programmes? In: Lammerts van Bueren, E.T., Goldringer, I., Østergård, H. (eds), Proceedings of the COST SUSVAR/ ECO-PB Workshop on organic plant breeding strategies and the use of molecular markers. Louis Bolk Institute, Driebergen, The Netherlands, pp. 72 – 75.

Harjes, C.E., Rocheford, T.R., Bai, L., Brutnell, T.P., Kandianis, C.B., Sowinski, S.G., Stapleton, A.E., Vallabhaneni, R., Williams, M., Wurtzel, E.T., Yan, J., Buckler, E.S. (2008). Natural genetic variation in lycopene epsilon cyclase tapped for maize biofortification. Science 319: 330 – 333.

Harris, K., Borrell, A., Jordan, D., Rosenow, D., Nguyen, H., Klein, P., Klein, R.R. & Mullet, J. (2007). Sorghum stay-green QTL individually reduce post-flowering drought-induced leaf senescence. Journal of Experimental Botany 58: 327 – 338.

Haugen, H. M. (2007). Patent Rights and Human Rights: Exploring their Relationships. The Journal of World Intellectual Property, Vol. 10, no. 2:97–124.

Hayes, P.M., Corey, A.E., Mundt, C., Toojinda, T. & Vivar, H. (2003) Registration of 'Tango' barley. Crop Science 43: 729 – 731.

Heffner, E.L., Sorrells, M.E. & Jannink, J.-L. (2009). Genomic selection for crop improvement. Crop Science 49: 1 – 12.

Herdt, R.W. (2006). Biotechnology in agriculture. Annual Review of Environment and Resources 31:265 – 295.

Hoshida, H., Tanaka, Y., Hibino, T., Hayashi, Y., Tanaka, A., Takabe, T. and Takabe, T. (2000). Enhanced tolerance to salt stress in transgenic rice that overexpress chloroplast glutamine synthetase. Plant Molecular Biology 43: 103 – 111.

Hospital, F. (2009). Challenges for effective marker-assisted selection in plants. Genetica in press. Howe, J.A. & Tanumihardjo, S.A. (2006). Carotenoid-biofortified maize maintains adequate vitamin A status in Mongolian gerbils. J. Nutr. 136: 2562 – 2567.

Hussain, M., Chughtai, S.R., Javed, H.I., Malik, H.N. & Munawwar, M.H. (2006). Performance of locally constituted quality protein maize hybrids-A fortune for malnourished people and feed industry in Pakistan. Asian Journal of Plant Sciences 5 (2): 385 – 389.

ICRISAT (2009). GT-Biotechnology Projects. International Crops Research Institute for the Semi-Arid Tropics. www.icrisat.org/gt-bt/globalprj1.htm (verified 20 March 2009).

IRGSP (2005). The map-based sequence of the rice genome. Nature 436: 793 - 800.

Ismail, A.M., Heuer, S., Thomson, M.J. & Wissuwa, M. (2007). Genetic and genomic approaches to develop rice germplasm for problem soils. Plant Molecular Biology 65: 547 – 570.

Jansen, R.C., Tesson, B.M., Fu, J., Yang, Y. & McIntyre, L.M. (2009). Defining gene and QTL networks. Current Opinion in Plant Biology 12: 1 – 6.

Jefferson, R. (2006). Sience as a social enterprise, the CAMBIA BIOS Initiative. R. Innov:Technol., Governance, Global. 1:13-44.

Jena, K.K. & MacKill, D.J. (2008). Molecular markers and their use in marker-assisted selection in Rice. Crop Science 48: 1266 – 1276.

Johal, G., Balint Kurti, P.J. & Weil, C. (2008). Mining and harnessing natural variation – a little MAGIC. Crop Science. 48: 2066 – 2073.

Johns, T. & Eyzaguirre, P.B. (2007). Biofortification, biodiversity and diet: A search for complementary applications against poverty and malnutrition. Food Policy 32: 1 – 24.

Kidwell, K., Santra, D., deMacon, V., Shelton, G., Santra, M., Burke, A., Nyongesa, W. & Carter, A. (2008). Precision breeding. Wheat research progress report. Washington State University, Agricultural Research Center . http://arc.wsu.edu/Links/images/2008/3572Kidwell.pdf (verified 20 March 2009). Knight, J. (2003). Crop improvement: a dying breed. Nature 421: 568 – 570.

Kock, M. (2006). The Legal Protection of Plant-Biotechnological Inventions and Plant Varieties in Light of the EC Biopatent Directive. International Review of Intellectual Property and Competition Law, Vol 37, No 2/2006: 135-244.

Kosova, K., Chrpova, J. & Sip, V. (2008). Recent advances in breeding of cereals for resistance to barley yellow dwarf virus – a review. Czech Journal of Genetics and Plant Breeding 44: 1 – 10.

Koyama, M.L., Levesley, A., Koebner, R.M., Flowers, T.J. & Yeo, A.R. (2001). Quantitative Trait Loci for component physiological traits determining salt tolerance in rice. Plant Physiology 125: 406 – 422.

Krivanek, A.F., De Grote, H., Gunaratna, N.S., Diallo, A.O. & Friesen, D. (2007). Breeding and disseminating quality protein maize (QPM) for Africa. African Journal of Biotechnology 6: 312 – 324. Kumar, R., Venuprasad, R. & Atlin, G.N. (2007). Genetic analysis of rainfed lowland rice drought

tolerance under naturally occurring stress in eastern India: heritability and QTL effects. Field Crops Research 103: 42 – 52.

Latham, J.R., Wilson, A. & Steinbrecher, R.A. (2006). The mutational consequences of plant transformation. Journal of Biomedicine and Biotechnology 2006: 1 – 7.

Lee, S.Y., Ahn, J.H., Cha, Y.S., Yun, D.W., Lee, M.C., Ko, J.C., Lee, K.S. & Eun, M.Y. (2006). Mapping of quantitative trait loci for salt tolerance at the seedling stage in rice. Molecules and Cells 21(2):192 – 196. Lei, Z., Juneja, R., Wright, B.D. (2009). Patents versus patenting: implications of intellectual property

protection for biological research, Nature Biotechnology, Vol 27, Nr 1: 36-40. Lin, H.X., Zhu, M.Z., Yano, M., Gao, J.P., Liang, Z.W., et al. (2004). QTLs for Na+ and K+ uptake of the

shoots and roots controlling rice salt tolerance. Theor. Appl. Genet. 108: 253 – 260.

Lafitte, H.R., Courtois, B. & Arrandeau, M. (2002). Genetic improvement of rice in aerobic systems: progress from yield to genes. Field Crops Research 75: 171 – 190.

Lammerts van Bueren, E.T. (2005). Reflection on the workshop. In: Lammerts van Bueren, E.T., Goldringer, I., Østergård, H. (eds), Proceedings of the COST SUSVAR/ ECO-PB Workshop on organic plant breeding strategies and the use of molecular markers. Louis Bolk Institute, Driebergen, The Netherlands, pp. 76 – 78.

Lammerts van Bueren, E.T., Struik, P.C., Tiemens-Hulscher, M. & Jacobsen, E. (2003). Concepts of intrinsic value and integrity of plants in organic plant breeding and propagation. Crop Science 43: 1922 – 1929.

Lammerts van Bueren, E.T. & Struik, P.C. (2004). The consequences of the concept of naturalness for organic plant breeding and propagation. NJAS Wageningen Journal of Life Sciences 52:85-95.

Langridge, P. & Barr, A.R. (2003). Preface. Australian Journal of Agricultural Research 54: i - iv.

Landi, P., Sanguineti, M.C., Liu, C., Li, Y., Wang, T.Y., Giuliani, S., Bellotti, M., Salvi, S. & Tuberosa, R. (2007). Root-ABA1 QTL affects root lodging, grain yield, and other agronomic traits in maize grown under well-watered and water-stressed conditions. Journal of Experimental Botany 58: 319 – 326.

Leung, H. (2008). Stressed genomics – bringing relief to rice fields. Current Opinion in Plant Biology 11: 201 – 208.

Lippman, Z.B., Semel, Y. & Zamir, D. (2007). An integrated view of quantitative trait variation using tomato interspecific introgression lines. Current Opinion in Genetics and Development. 6: 545 – 552.

Lorch, A. (2005) Vitamin A deficiency: diverse causes, diverse solutions, Greenpeace, www.greenpeace.org/raw/content/india/press/reports/vitamin-a-deficiency-diverse.doc

Ma, X., Qian, Q. and Zhu, D. (2005). Expression of a calcineurin gene improves salt stress tolerance in transgenic rice. Plant Molecular Biology 58: 483 – 495.

McCouch, S. (2004). Diversifying selection in plant breeding. PLoS Biology 2(10): 1507 – 1512. Miklas, P.N., Kelly, J.D. & Singh, S.P. (2003). Registration of anthracnose-resistant pinto bean germolasm line USPT-ANT-1. Crop Science 43: 1889 – 1890.

Mohammadi-Nejad, G., Arzani, A., Rezai, A.M., Singh, R.K. & Gregorio, G.B. (2008). Assessment of rice genotypes for salt tolerance using microsatellite markers associated with the saltol QTL. Afr. J. Biotech. 7: 730 – 736.

Molden, D. (2007). Water for food, water for life: a comprehensive assessment of water management in agriculture. International Water Management Institute, London.

Moose, S.P. & Mumm, R.H. (2008). Molecular plant breeding as the foundation for 21st century crop improvement. Plant Physiology 147: 969 – 977.

Mudur, G.S. (2008). Bred: protein-rich corn as good as milk. The Telegraph India.

www.telegraphindia.com/1080122/jsp/frontpage/story_8811106.jsp (verified 20 March 2009). Murphy, D. (2007). Plant breeding and biotechnology: Societal context and the future of agriculture. Cambridge University Press.

Mutlu, N., Miklas, P.N. Steadman, J.R. Vidaver, A.V., Lindgren, D. Reiser, J. & Pastor-Corrales M.A. (2005). Registration of pinto bean germplasm line ABCP-8 with resistance to common bacterial blight. Crop Science 45: 806.

Mutlu, N., Urrea, C.A., Miklas, P.N., Steadman, J.R., Pastor Corrales, M.A., Lindgren, D.T., Reiser, J., Vidaver, A.K. & Coyne, D.P. (2008). Registration of common bacterial blight, rust and bean common mosaic resistant great northern bean germplasm line ABC - Weighing. Journal of Plant Registrations. 2: 120 – 124.

Naheed, G., Shahbaz, M., Latif, C.A. & Rha, E.S. (2007). Alleviation of the adverse effects of salt stress on rice (Oryza sativa L.) by phosphorus applied through rooting medium: growth and gas exchange characteristics. Pakistan Journal of Botany 39: 729 – 737.

Naqvi, S., Zhu, C., Farre, G., Ramessar, K., Bassie, L., Breitenbach, J., Perez Conesa, D., Ros, G., Sandmann, G., Capell, T., Christou, P. (2009). Transgenic multivitamin corn through biofortification of endosperm with three vitamins representing three distinct metabolic pathways. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. 2009 May 12;106(19):7762-7. Epub 2009 Apr 27

Naylor, R. & Manning, R. (2005). Unleashing the genius of the genome to feed the developing world. Proceedings of the American Philosophical Society 149: 515 – 528.

Naylor, R.L., Falcon, W.P., Goodman, R.M., Jahn, M.M., Sengooba, T., Tefera, H. & Nelson R.J. (2004). Biotechnology in the developing world: a case for increased investment in orphan crops, Food Policy 29: 15 – 44.

Neeraja, C.N., Maghirang-Rodriguez, R., Pamplona, A., Heuer, S., Collard, B.C.Y., Septiningsih, E.M., Vergara, G., Sanchez, D., Xu, K., Ismail, A.M. & MacKill, D.J. (2007). A marker-assisted backcross approach for developing submergence-tolerant rice cultivars. Theoretical and Applied Genetics 115: 767 – 776.

Nestel, P., Bouis, H.E., Meenakshi, J.V. & Pfeiffer, W. (2006). Biofortification of staple food crops. Journal of Nutrition 136: 1064 – 1067.

Nordborg, M. & Weigel, D. (2008). Next-generation genetics in plants. Nature 456: 720 – 723. Normile, D. (2008). Reinventing rice to feed the world. Science 321: 330 – 333.

OECD (1992). Biotechnology, Agriculture and Food, Paris.

Ortiz-Monasterio, J.I., Palacios-Rojas, N., Meng, E., Pixley, K., Trethowan, R. & Pena, R.J. (2007). Enhancing the mineral and vitamin content of wheat and maize through plant breeding. Journal of Cereal Science 46: 293 – 307.

Passioura, J. (2006). Increasing crop productivity when water is scarce – from breeding to field management. Agricultural Water Management 80: 176 – 196.

Peleman, J.D. & van der Voort, J.R. (2003a). Breeding by design. Trends in Plant Science 8: 330 – 334. Peleman, J.D. & van Der Voort, J.R. (2003b). The challenges in marker assisted breeding. In: van Hintum, Th.J.L., Lebeda, A., Pink, D. & Schut, J.W. (eds), Eucarpia leafy vegetables, CGN, pp 125 – 130.

Peng, S., Bouman, B., Visperas, R.M., Castaneda, A., Nie, L. & Park, H.K. (2006). Comparison between aerobic and flooded rice in the tropics: agronomic performance in an eight-season experiment. Field Crops Research 96: 252 – 259.

Peng, S., Tang, Q. & Zou, Y. (2009). Current status and challenges of rice production in China. Plant Production Science 12: 3 – 8.

Pha, N.T. & Lang, N.T. (2004). Marker-assisted selection in rice breeding for bacterial leaf blight. Omonrice 12:18 – 25.

PH (2008). MAStering crop biofortification. Nature Biotechnology 26: 301

PTAB (2009). 2008 top varieties. Processing Tomato Advisory Board, (PTAB).

www.ptab.org/ranking11.htm

Pollack, A. (2001). Gene research finds new use in agricultural breeding. New York Times. www.biotechinfo.net/new_use.html

Powell, K. (2007). Functional foods from biotech – an unappetizing prospect? Nature Biotechnology 25: 525 – 531.

Rahman, S., Haque, T., Rahman, M.S. & Seraj, Z.I. (2008). Salt tolerant-BR11 and salt tolerant-BR28 through Marker Assisted Backcrossing (MAB). http://pbtlabdu.net/abs_rahman_et_al.pdf

Rao, K.K., Lakshminarasu, M. & Jena, K.K. (2002). DNA markers and marker-assisted breeding for

durable resistance to bacterial blight disease in rice. Biotechnology Advances 20: 33 - 47. Reece, J.D. & Haribabu, E. (2007). Genes to feed the world: The weakest link? Food Policy 32: 459 -

479.

Reynolds, M.P. & Tuberosa, R. (2008). Translational research impacting on crop productivity in droughtprone environments. Current Opinions in Plant Biology 11: 171 – 179.

Richards, R.A. (2006). Physiological traits used in the breeding of new cultivars for water-scarce environments. Agricultural Water Management 80: 197 - 211.

Ronald, P. (2008). Tomorrow's table for nature. Blog on Nature Network.

http://pamelaronald.blogspot.com/2008/11/blogging-from-bangladesh-part-5.html

Rost, B. (2001). Rain of terror. Oregon's Agricultural Progress.

http://oregonprogress.oregonstate.edu/story.php?S_No=26&storyType=oap&page=1 (verified 20 March 2009).

Ruane, J. & Sonnino, A. (2007). Marker-assisted selection as a tool for genetic improvement of crops, livestock, forestry and fish in developing countries: an overview of the issues. In: Guimaraes, E.P., Ruane, J., Scherf, B.D., Sonnino, A. & Dargie, J.D. (eds), Marker-assisted selection. Current status and future perspectives in crops, livestock, forestry and fish. Food and Agriculture Organisation of the United Nations (FAO), Rome, pp. 3 – 14.

Saijo, Y., Hata, S., Kyozuka, J., Shimamoto, K. and Izui, K. (2000). Overexpression of a single Ca2+dependent protein kinase confers both cold and salt/drought tolerance on rice plants. Plant Journal 23: 319 – 327.

Salas-Fernandez, M.G., Hamblin, M., Li, L., Rooney, W.L., Tuinstra, M.R. & Kresovich, S. (2008). Quantitative trait loci analysis of endosperm color and carotenoid content in sorghum grain. Crop Science 48: 1732 – 1743.

Sasaki, T. (2006). Rice in deep water. Nature 442: 635 - 636.

Schauer, N., Semel, Y., Roessner, U., Gur, A., Balbo, I., Carrari, F., Pleban, T., Perez-Melis, A., Bruedigam, C., Kopka, J., Willmitzer, L., Zamir, D. & Fernie, A.R. (2006). Comprehensive metabolic profiling and phenotyping of interspecific introgression lines for tomato improvement. Nature Biotechnology 24:447–454.

Semagn, K., Bjørnstad, Å. & Ndjiondjop, M.N. (2006). Progress and prospects of marker assisted backcrossing as a tool in crop breeding programs. African Journal of Biotechnology 5(25): 2588 – 2603.

Septiningsih, E.M., Pamplona, A.M.,. Sanchez, D.L., Neeraja, C.N., Vergara, G.V., Heuer, S., Ismail, A.M. & Mackill, D.J. (2009). Development of submergence-tolerant rice cultivars: the Sub1 locus and beyond. Annals of Botany 103: 151 – 160.

Singh, A.K., Ansari, M.W., Pareek ,A. & Singla-Pareek, S.L. (2008). Raising salinity tolerant rice: Recent Progress and future perspectives. Physiology and Molecular Biology of Plants 14: 23 – 32.

Skamnioti P. & Gurr S.J. (2009). Against the grain: safeguarding rice from rice blast disease. Trends in Biotechnology 27: 141 – 150.

Srinivasan, G., Cordora, H., Gergara, N., Rodrignes, E. & Urrea, C. (2004). Potential of Quality Protein Maize for Promoting Nutritional Security in Asia. In: Fischer, T. Turner, N., Angus, J., Mcintyre, L., Robertson, M. Borrell, A. & Lloyd, D. (eds.), New Directions for a Diverse Planet: Proceedings of the 4th International Crop Science Congress, Brisbane, Australia.

Stevens, R. (2008). Prospects for using marker-assisted breeding to improve maize production in Africa. Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture 88: 745 – 755.

Stevens, R. & Winter-Nelson, A. (2008). Consumer acceptance of provitamin A-biofortified maize in Maputo, Mozambique. Food Policy 33: 341 - 351.

Su, J., Hirji, R., Zhang, L., He, C., Selvaraj, G. & Wu, R. (2006). Evaluation of the stress-inducible production of choline oxidase in transgenic rice as a strategy for producing the stress-protectant glycine betaine. Journal of Experimental Botany 57: 1129 – 1135.

Sundaram, R.M., Vishnupriya, M.R., Biradar, S.K., Laha, G.S., Reddy, G.A., Rani, N.S., Sarma, N.P. & Sonti, R.V. (2008). Marker assisted introgression of bacterial blight resistance in Samba Mahsuri, an elite indica rice variety. Euphytica 160: 411 – 422.

Takeda, S. & Matsuoka, M. (2008). Genetic approaches to crop improvement: responding to environmental and population changes. Nature Reviews Genetics 9: 444 – 457.

Tanksley, S.D. & McCouch, S.R. (1997). Seed banks and molecular maps: unlocking genetic potential from the wild. Science 277: 1063 – 1066.

Tanumihardjo, S.A. (2008). Food-based approaches for ensuring adequate vitamin A nutrition. Comprehensive Reviews in Food Science and Food Safety 7: 373 – 381.

Tanumihardjo, S.A., Bouis, H., Hotz, C., Meenakshi, J.V. & McClafferty, B. (2008). Biofortification of staple crops: an emerging strategy to combat hidden hunger. Comprehensive Reviews in Food Science and Food Safety 7: 329 – 334.

Then, Ch., Tippe, R. (2009). The future of seeds and food under the growing threat of patents and market concentration. coalition "no patents on seeds", http://www.no-patents-on-seeds.org/index.php?option=com_content&task=view&d=91&ttemid=42

Toenniessen, G.H., O'Toole, J.C. & DeVries, J. (2003). Advances in plant biotechnology and its adoption

in developing countries. Current Opinion in Plant Biology 6: 191 – 198.

Tu, J., Datta, K., Khush, G.S., Zhang, Q. and Datta, S.K. (2000). Field performance of Xa21 transgenic indica rice (Oryza sativa L.), IR72. Theoretical and Applied Genetics 101: 15 – 20.

Tuong, T.P. & Bouman, B.A.M. (2003). Rice production in water-scarce environments. In: Kijne, J.W., Barker, R., Molden, D. (eds.), Water Productivity in Agriculture: Limits and Opportunities for Improvement. CABI Publishing, UK, pp. 53–67.

Tuvesson, S., Dayteg, C., Hagberg, P., Manninen, O., Tanhuanpää, P., Tenhola-Roininen, T., Kiviharju, E.. Weyen, J.. Förster, J. & Schondelmaier, J. (2007). Molecular markers and doubled haploids in European plant breeding programmes Euphytica 158: 305 – 312.

Utomo, H.S. & Linscombe, S.D. (2009). Current patents and future development underlying markerassisted breeding in major crops. Recent Patents on DNA & Gene Sequences 3: 53 – 62.

Van den Heuvel, T., Renes, R.-J., Gremmen, B., Van Woerkum, C. & Van Trijp, H. (2008). Consumers' images regarding genomics as a tomato breeding technology: maybe it can provide a more tasty tomato. Euphytica 159: 207 – 216.

Van Jaarsveld, P.J., Marais, D.W., Harmse, E., Nestel, P. & Rodriguez-Amaya, D.B. (2006). Retention of b-carotene in boiled, mashed orange-fleshed sweet potato. J Food Compos Anal. 19: 321 – 329.

Varshney, R.K., Graner, A. & Sorrells, M.E. (2005). Genomics-assisted breeding for crop improvement. Trends in Plant Science 10: 621 – 630.

Venter, M. (2007). Synthetic promoters: genetic control through cis engineering. Trends in Plant Science 12: 118 – 124.

Verhoog, H. (2005). Organic values and the use of marker technology in organic plant breeding. In: Lammerts van Bueren, E.T., Goldringer, I., Østergård, H. (eds), Proceedings of the COST SUSVAR/ ECO-PB Workshop on organic plant breeding strategies and the use of molecular markers. Louis Bolk Institute, Driebergen, The Netherlands, pp. 7 – 12.

Vij, S. & Tyagi, A.K. (2007). Emerging trends in functional genomics of abiotic response in crop plants. Plant Biotechnology Journal 5: 361 – 380.

Walsh, B. (2009). Quantitative genetics, version 3.0: where have we gone since 1987 and where are we headed? Genetica in press.

Wang, W., Vinocur, B. & Altman, A. (2003). Plant response to drought, salinity and extreme temperatures: toward genetic engineering for stress tolerance. Planta 218: 1 – 14.

Wenzel, G. (2006). Molecular plant breeding: achievements in green biotechnology and future perspectives. Applied Microbiology Biotechnology 70: 642 – 650.

WheatCAP (2009). Germplasm release. University of California, Davis.

http://maswheat.ucdavis.edu/Achievements/cultivars2007.htm (verified 20 March 2009).

William, H.M., Trethowan, R.M. & Crosby-Galvan, E.M. (2007). Wheat breeding assisted by markers: CIMMYT's experience. Euphytica 157: 307 – 319.

William, H.M., Morris, M., Warburton, M. & Hoisington, D.A. (2007). Technical, economic and policy considerations on marker-assisted selection in crops: lessons from the experience at an international agricultural research centre. In: Guimaraes, E.P., Ruane, J., Scherf, B.D., Sonnino, A. & Dargie, J.D. (eds), Marker-assisted selection. Current status and future perspectives in crops, livestock, forestry and fish. Food and Agriculture Organisation of the United Nations (FAO), Rome, pp. 381 – 404.

Xu, Y. & Crouch, J.H. (2008). Marker-assisted selection in plant breeding: from publications to practice. Crop Science 48: 391 – 407.

Xu, K., Xu, X., Fukao, T., Canlas, P., Maghirang-Rodriguez, R., Heuer, S., Ismail, A.M., Bailey-Serres, J., Ronald, P.C. & Mackill, D.J. (2006). Sub1A is an ethylene-response-factor-like gene that confers submergence tolerance to rice. Nature 442: 705 – 708.

Yamaguchi, T. & Blumwald, E. (2005). Developing salt-tolerant crop plants: challenges and opportunities. Trends in Plant Science 10: 615 – 20.

Young, N.D. (1999). A cautiously optimistic vision for marker-assisted breeding. Molecular Breeding 5: 505 – 510.

Yu, J., Hu, S., Wang, J., Wong, G.K., Li, S., Liu, B., Deng, Y., Dai, L., Zhou, Y., Zhang, X., Cao, M., Liu, J., Sun, J., Tang, J., Chen, Y., Huang, X., Lin, W., Ye, C., Tong, W., Cong, L., Geng, J., Han, Y., Li, L., Li, W., Hu, G., Huang, X., Li, W., Li, Z., Li, L., Liu, J., Qi, Q., Liu, J., Li, I., T., Wang, X., Lu, H., Yu, T., Zhu, M., Ni, P., Han, H., Dong, W., Ren, X., Feng, X., Cui, P., Li, X., Wang, H., Xu, X., Zhang, J., He, S., Zhang, J., Xu, J., Zhang, K., Zheng, X., Dong, J., Zeng, W., Tao, L., Ye, J., Tan, J., Ren, X., Chen, X., He, J., Liu, D., Tian, W., Tian, C., Xia, H., Bao, Q., Li, G., Gao, H., Cao, Y., Wang, J., Zhao, W., Li, P., Chen, W., Wang, X., Zhang, G., Xiong, Y., Li, Z., Mao, L., Zhou, C., Zhu, Z., Chen, R., Hao, B., Zheng, W., Chen, S., Guo, W., Li, G., Liu, S., Tao, M., Wang, J., Zhu, L., Yuan, L. & Yang, H. (2002). A draft sequence of the rice genome (Oryza sativa L. ssp.indica). Science 298: 79 – 92.

Zamir, D. (2001). Improving plant breeding with exotic genetic libraries. Nature Reviews Genetics 2: 983 – 989.

Zamir, D. (2008). Plant breeders go back to nature. Nature Genetics 40(3): 269 - 270.

Zhai, W., Wang, W., Zhou, Y., Li, X., Zheng, X.W., Zhang, Q., Wang, G.L. & Zhu LH (2001). Breeding bacterial blight-resistant hybrid rice with cloned bacterial blight resistance gene Xa21. Molecular Breeding 8: 285 – 293.

Zhang, Q. (2007). Strategies for developing Green Super Rice. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 104(42): 16402 – 16409.

Zhu, C., Gore, M., Buckler, E.S. & Yu, J. (2008). Status and prospects of association mapping in plants. The Plant Genome 1: 5 – 20.



Greenpeace is an independent global campaigning organisation that acts to change attitudes and behaviour, to protect and conserve the environment and to promote peace.

Published by Greenpeace International Ottho Heldringstraat 5 1066 AZ Amsterdam The Netherlands Tel: +31 20 7182000

For more information contact: enquiries@greenpeace.org

greenpeace.org

